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Upholding the dignity of those we serve.

Accountability • Integrity • Professionalism • Transparency • Efficiency • Respect • Equity

The new South African Board for Sheriffs building at 88 Loop Street in Cape Town
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The SA Board for Sheriffs is a statuatory body established under section 7 of the Sheriffs’ Act No. 90 of 1986 and has as its objects the 
maintenance of the esteem of; the enhancement of the status of, and the improvement of the standard of training of and functions performed 
by sheriffs. Its general functions are set out in section 16 of the Sheriffs’ Act. It also plays an indirect role in the appointment of sheriffs through 
it’s control over the issuing of Fidelity Fund Certificates, without which a person is not entitled to function as a sheriff.
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Service Charter

Sheriffs pledge to...

1. Maintain the high standards of honesty, integrity and bona fides;

2. Execute their duties as sheriff effectively, efficiently and with full respect for the  
 basic human right to human dignity and respect as enshrined in section 10 of the  
 Constitution of South Africa;

3. Report timeously on all activities in the execution of their duties as sheriff and  
 provide the public with access to full and correct information about any court  
 process they have a right to receive;

4. Account for all monies received on behalf of others honestly, accurately and  
 punctually;

5. Pay all monies received on behalf of third parties into a trust account;

6. Maintain the confidentiality, dignity and privacy about the affairs of the public in  
 so far as this is possible;

7. Acknowledge that the Board plays a vital role in the Sheriffs’ profession and  
 undertake to co-operate with the Board on all things;

8. Undertake to co-operate with the Board in the performance of its functions and  
 especially agree to pay levies to the Board timeously and in full;

9. As a sheriff, recognise that members of the public rely on any undertakings made  
 by them, and pledge to honour any such undertakings;

10. As the sheriff, acknowledge that members of the public rely on the advice given  
 by sheriffs to them;

11. Undertake to conduct themselves impartially and to give the members of the  
 public unbiased report back on matters they have handled;

12. Undertake to only charge fees in accordance with the applicable legislative tariff;

13. Undertake to carry out all their work competently, punctually and professionally;

14. Undertake to report comprehensively to their clients and to take pride in their  
 profession;

15. Undertake not to do anything which may bring the sheriffs’ profession into  
 disrepute;

16. Undertake to participate fully in all efforts to improve the civil justice system and  
 any initiatives by the Minister responsible for the administration of justice to  
 transform the civil justice system; and

17. Dedicate themselves to working hard to meet the challenges of their office and  
 strive to, at all times, do their best to meet the interests of justice.
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Vision
· We are a Board that is transparent, and responsive to 
 the needs of the sheriffs’ profession.

· We promote a professional sheriffs’ service that is  
 respectful and efficient, to deliver justice to all with  
 integrity and accountability.

· We are accountable in terms of our legislative mandate  
 and strive to entrench the human rights culture envisaged  
 by the Constitution.

Mission
· We will provide a professional and credible service to all  
 our clients and other stakeholders.

· We will develop skilled, knowledgeable and motivated  
 staff.

· We will develop a unified and committed Board with  
 focused leadership.

· We will conduct all activities and execute our mandate in  
 a manner that is accountable to the public and to  
 Government.

· We will enhance the image and goodwill of the sheriffs’  
 profession.

Values
Accountability
We will ensure that the members and officials of the Board 
carry out their responsibilities conscientiously and with 
integrity.

Integrity
We will uphold the ethical and moral principles embodied in 
the Codes and Policies of the Board and the Constitution 
of South Africa, acting always with honesty, fairness and 
consistency.

Professionalism
We are committed to serving our stakeholders with courtesy, 
to the best of our abilities and with dedication, to the highest 
standards of service excellence.

Transparency
We will ensure that all our practices are open to internal and 
external scrutiny.

Efficiency
We are committed to managing the resources of the Board 
efficiently and effectively, and will take steps to eliminate all 
wasteful and fruitless expenditure.

Respect
We value and respect the views of all our stakeholders and 
will treat everyone with dignity and consideration.

Equity
We are committed to employment equity in the recruitment 
of staff, and opposed to all forms of unfair discrimination in 
our relationships with all stakeholders and the public.

Vision, mission and values
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Governance and organisation

The South African Board for Sheriffs (the Board) is a regulatory 
statutory body established by the Minister responsible for 
the administration of justice, in terms of Section 7 of the 
Sheriffs Act No. 90 of 1986, and it has as its objectives the 
maintenance of the esteem of, the enhancement of the status 
of, and the improvement of the standard of the training and 
functions performed by sheriffs.

This is the second annual report reflecting the activities of 
the current Board that was appointed on 1 March 2012 by 
the Minister. Great emphasis has been placed on ensuring 
that governance practices are adhered to in an open and 
transparent manner, and this remains an important principle 
of this Board.

The organisational development review conducted in 
2012/13 has been instrumental in understanding how the 
capacity and structure of the South African Board for Sheriffs 

... it has as its objectives the 
maintenance of the esteem of, 
the enhancement of the status 
of, and the improvement of the 
standard of the training and 
functions performed by sheriffs.

– from both a Board and Office of the Board perspective – 
should be better aligned to meet and deal with the challenges 
of the sheriffs’ profession.

An important outcome of the organisational development 
review was the establishment of a three-year strategic plan to 
guide the activities of the Board during its term. With financial 
stability as its cornerstone, this plan is the framework on 
which the work of the Board and Office will be measured.

Fundamental to the Board and its operations is adherence to 
the Sheriffs Act No. 90 of 1986, the subsequent amendments 
thereto and its Regulations.

The Board has achieved full compliance with the principles 
of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), by 
ensuring that financial statements are prepared on an accrual 
basis as opposed to a cash basis. The implementation of 
GRAP requires a much more rigorous accounting structure, 
as well as full disclosure in the annual financial statements. 
We believe that the implementation of GRAP will allow for 
greater accountability in full compliance with good financial 
governance.

A comprehensive review of all policies is also part of the 
Board’s commitment to good governance. In this regard, the 
Procurement Policy, Fraud Policy and Compliance Policy are 
being redrafted. 
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Charmaine Mabuza – Chairperson

Charmaine was one of the first black woman sheriffs when appointed to the 
Nelspruit High Court more than 10 years ago. She was subsequently also 
appointed as sheriff to the Lower Court. She was appointed to the South 
African Board for Sheriffs in 2006 and for a second term in 2009, when she 
served as Deputy Chairperson. As a practising sheriff herself, she is well aware 
of the challenges facing the profession and brings unique insight into her role 
as Chairperson. Charmaine has championed the financial stability of sheriffs 
and the Office as key elements of a sustainability programme, together with the 
transformation of the sheriffs’ profession, remains key objectives for the Board. 
She sees the appointment of 203 new sheriffs during this Board’s tenure as a 
glowing success, and one they would like to continue to build on.

Board members’ profiles

Hlako Choma – Deputy Chairperson 

Hlako brings many years of distinguished service to his role as Board member. 
As a law lecturer, Commissioner of the Small Claims Court and long-term 
advocate, he feels that a minimum entry qualification for sheriffs would go a 
long way to raising the service bar in the profession. To this end, he sees 
the Sheriffs’ Handbook as an indispensable tool. Hlako is pleased with the 
enthusiastic role played by the Board in fulfilling its statutory mandate in a 
transparent manner.

Laura Best  

Laura has diverse experience in public management spanning advocacy, 
policy support, capacity building and research. Serving her second term as a 
member of the National Consumer Tribunal, she has wide-ranging expertise 
in consumer protection. This will prove valuable in ensuring interaction 
between consumer agencies and the South African Board for Sheriffs, given 
the profession’s role under the Consumer Protection Act. Laura has a solid 
grounding in social justice and, from her work in the higher education sector, 
an understanding of the human resources needs of the country. She sees a 
capacitated, cohesive and justice-oriented sheriffs’ profession as an absolute 
must. The challenge is how best to achieve this public-service focus while 
maintaining a modern business approach.
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Abel Mawela  

Abel brings a unique perspective to the financial controls and governance of 
the organisation. He is proud of the clean audit status achieved so far and 
views this seriously – the Board does, after all, serve as a public institution and 
is accountable to all South Africans. Abel views sheriffs’ income streams as 
under threat and feels more needs to be done to increase tariffs and identify 
new sources of income if offices are to be sustainable in the long term. He also 
feels that international best practice should be researched to find better ways 
of sheriffing in South Africa.

Freda Moeletsi 

Freda is a serving sheriff. Her legal background, coupled with public finance and 
management experience, enables her to assist with the Board’s finance and 
human resources policies and work. She believes strongly in transformation 
in the profession, more specifically from a gender perspective. An ongoing 
goal of Freda’s is improving the relationship between sheriffs and the various 
stakeholders they serve.

Hishaam Mohamed  

Hishaam is the Regional Head of the Department of Justice and Correctional 
Services: Western Cape. He holds B.Luris and LLB degrees, has a Masters 
in Public Administration, and has completed a Senior Executive Management 
Course through Harvard University. He was admitted as an advocate in the 
Western Cape High Court in 1995. He represents the Minister on the South 
African Board for Sheriffs and is responsible for the sheriffs’ administration at 
the Department of Justice and Constitutional Development. Hishaam was a 
member of a number of national regulatory bodies, forums and task teams, 
such as the South African Liquor Board, Electoral Court, Justice, Crime 
Prevention and Security Cluster Committee (JCPS), National Child Maintenance 
Task Team and National Task Team on the Transformation of the Judicial 
System. He is a founding member and Chairperson of the Southern Suburbs 
Legal Advice Centre (a registered and operating trust) and is the recipient of 
numerous community and public awards. Hishaam’s extensive public sector 
senior management and quasi-judicial experience of over 20 years has stood 
him in good stead in enhancing access to justice and human rights advocacy.
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Humphrey Ntsikeni  

As a practising sheriff, Humphrey is keenly aware of the challenges facing 
fellow professionals in the workplace, and it is this experience he brings to the 
table. He is confident that the new Office structure will result in more efficient 
operation and quicker resolution of complaints. Training and assistance in the 
operation of sheriffs’ offices are areas he would like to see focused on during 
his term.

Nicholas Nxumalo 

As a practising sheriff and member of the Standing Disciplinary Committee, 
Nicholas is only too aware of the need for the profession to adhere to the rule 
of law. He sees training as the cornerstone of ensuring that sheriffs understand 
their obligations, to enable them to carry out their responsibilities without 
themselves becoming the subject of legal action. While significant progress has 
been made, Nicholas views transformation as an ongoing process. 

Petro Roodt  

Petro has been involved with the sheriffs’ profession since 1992 and brings 
considerable experience to her role as a Board member. Of particular interest 
to her has been the handover process from the outgoing to incoming sheriff, an 
occurrence that should take place with unhindered service quality throughout. 
Petro views the plight of rural sheriffs with particular concern; challenges of 
viability are very real to this segment of the profession. An achievement she is 
proud of is the clearing of the backlog of claims against the Fidelity Fund. With 
this done, new claims can be dealt with timeously and individuals who have 
suffered from poor service, promptly compensated.

Board members’ profiles
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Thami Tembe 

As a practising attorney and a user of sheriffs’ services, Thami is fully aware 
of the role sheriffs play and the need for them in the justice system. He 
feels this brings a practical understanding to his work as a Board member, 
so that proposed changes are not only within law but also contribute to the 
improvement of the profession. At the same time, he encourages sheriffs to 
constantly upskill themselves by taking advantage of the training offered by the 
Board, as this will enable them to provide a better service to all, regardless of 
where they live or their social standing. 

Thaka Seboka  

As a practising sheriff, Thaka brings a real perspective to his dealings as a 
Board member. He’s legally qualified, has worked at a high level as a civil 
servant, and has business experience. He views good governance and 
fiduciary accountability as non-negotiables, and rates the South African 
Board for Sheriffs tops in this regard. Thaka feels that significant progress has 
been made in several areas, including the appointment of new sheriffs and 
the realignment of sheriffs’ areas. However, he sees the modernisation of the 
profession as a high priority, particularly in the face of increasing demands from 
sheriffs’ clients.

Note: H Mohamed is the Regional Head of the Department of Justice and Constitutional Development in the Western Cape and, as a Government 
employee, is not eligible to claim meeting allowances.

Board members’ remuneration and meeting attendance

  Board Exec L&L T&C F&HR
Cons. 
Forum

SD FF
Tele-
con

Other Remuneration (R) 

C Mabuza 4 1             9   57 242

H Choma 4 1   3   3     5 1 81 378

L Best 3 1   3         3   35 448

A Mawela 4       5     4 8   73 523

F Moeletsi 4       5       7   59 690

H Ntsikeni 4     3         7   47 581

N Nxumalo 4           4   2   51 241

P Roodt 3 1         7 4 10 5 97 233

T Seboka 4 1 4   5 3     7 9 102 866

T Tembe 4 1 4       7   6   77 287

H Mohamed 4   2     3     6   N/A

                      R683 489
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Top row (left to right): H Ntsikeni, L Best, N Nxumalo, A Mawela, and P Roodt
Bottom row (left to right): T Seboka, T Tembe, C Mabuza, H Choma, F Moeletsi and H Mohamed

Executive Committee of the Board
Chairperson: C Mabuza
Members: H Choma (Deputy Chairperson), A Mawela,  
P Roodt, T Tembe, T Seboka, L Best

Legal and Liaison Committee
Chairperson: T Seboka
Members: H Mohamed, T Tembe

Standing Disciplinary Committee
Chairperson: T Tembe
Members: P Roodt, N Nxumalo

Fidelity Fund Committee
Chairperson: P Roodt
Members: H Mohamed, A Mawela

Training and Communications Committee
Chairperson: L Best
Members: H Choma, H Ntsikeni

Finance and Human Resources Committee
Chairperson: A Mawela
Members: F Moeletsi, T Seboka

Board committees
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The Board’s day-to-day functions are carried out by a dedicated team of professionals under the guidance of an Executive 
Manager. 

The Office of the Board operates as four divisions, each with a clear line of authority and reporting. They in turn service the 
Board members, who have established six committees to carry out their functions.

Organisational structure of the Office of the Board

Office organogram as at February 2014

GENERAL MANAGER:  
LEGAL & COMPLAINTS

L Mtunzi

GENERAL MANAGER:  
CORPORATE & FINANCIAL 

SERVICES 
A Simon

GENERAL  
ASSISTANT
G Ngqumba

ADMINISTRATION 
CLERK
N Silo

GENERAL 
CLERK

M Dikgacwi 

ADMINISTRATION  
ASSISTANT 
A Tshabalala

ADMINISTRATION  
ASSISTANT 

E Khophe

LEGAL  
ADMINISTRATOR

Vacant

SENIOR LEGAL 
ADMINISTRATOR

T Scheepers

COMMUNICATION  
OFFICER  (Acting)

 Z Abrahams

TRAINING 
OFFICER
L Mdekazi

FINANCE  
OFFICER
C Fortuin

SHAREPOINT  
ADMINISTRATOR

L Bell

INVESTIGATIONS  
OFFICER 
Z Dimande

DATA  
CAPTURER - S/P 

F Mohamed

INVESTIGATIONS  
OFFICER
S Nowers

BOOKKEEPER 
Y Olivier

LEGAL CASE  
OFFICER
B Goniwe

 ASSISTANT 
BOOKKEEPER

S Doreen 

ADMNISTRATION  
ASSISTANT (Temp)

 N Vuba

MANAGER:  
TRAINING & 

COMMUNICATIONS 
V Nel

STRATEGIC 
SUPPORT 

OFFICER (Acting)  
S Jones

MANAGER: HUMAN 
RESOURCES, COMPLIANCE 

& ADMINISTRATION
B Luthuli

 CUSTOMER SERVICE 
ADMINISTRATOR /  

RECEPTIONIST  
E Miller

PERSONAL  
ASSISTANT 

V Clarke (Temp)

EXECUTIVE MANAGER
H Kagee
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   We believe that 2014/15 will be an exciting year for the South 
African Board for Sheriffs and the sheriffs’ profession as we begin to 

implement the final year of our three-year strategic plan.

Charmaine Mabuza- Chairperson of the South African Board for Sheriffs
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The 2013/14 financial year has been a very exciting one 
for the South African Board for Sheriffs in that many of 
the plans that the new Board earmarked in its first year 
of appointment have come to fruition. Furthermore, 
the civil justice landscape in South Africa has been 
positively affected with numerous interventions with the 
Department of Justice and Constitutional Development 
(DoJCD). We believe this will result in the creation of a 
better environment for the process of civil justice and, 
more importantly, for the administration of the sheriffs’ 
profession. 

One of the key highlights of the 2013/14 financial year 
was the appointment of new sheriffs by the Minister of 
Justice and Constitutional Development, the Honourable 
Jeff Radebe, MP. At this point, over 95% of sheriffs’ offices 
have been filled with only a number in the Northern Cape 
vacant where the sheriff has retired or ceased to hold 
office. This is a remarkable achievement by the DoJCD, 
the South African Board for Sheriffs and the sheriffs’ 
profession as a whole, and will provide better service 
delivery to communities and our stakeholders. The DoJCD 
is currently busy with rationalising magisterial districts with 
municipal boundaries, and this may affect the number of 
vacant offices in the future.

Service delivery has become a critical focal area of the 
Board during its term. To this end, the Board recommended 
the approval of a new Code of Conduct for Sheriffs which 
was duly approved by the Deputy Minister of Justice and 
Constitutional Development, the Honourable John Jeffery,  
MP, in December 2013. The new Code of Conduct will go 
a long way in advancing the sheriffs’ profession, but more 
importantly, it will allow the South African Board for Sheriffs 
to effectively govern the conduct of sheriffs in an open and 
transparent manner.

The Civil Justice Review Project initiated by the DoJCD 
has been a catalyst for radical change in the civil justice 
processes in our courts. The Civil Justice Review Project, 
which is currently under the leadership of the Rules Board, 
is implementing many work streams to design appropriate 
tools to best realign civil justice processes to become more 
efficient and cost effective. The South African Board for 
Sheriffs has participated in many of these initiatives and 
we look forward to their culmination in a final report to the 
Minister of Justice and Correctional Services, and to their 
implementation.

The Sheriffs’ Amendment Act was assented to by 
President Jacob Zuma in December 2012. The process 
is underway by the DoJCD to develop Regulations for the 
full implementation of the Act. The South African Board for 
Sheriffs has been engaging with the Department to ensure 
the Regulations promulgated are practical and, above 
all, to ensure a better quality of service by sheriffs. The 
Amendment Act will be rolled out over a 12-month period 
to ensure that the full Act is implemented.

Our stakeholder engagement has been an invaluable part 
of the South African Board for Sheriffs’ presence in the civil 
justice arena. We are highly appreciative of the extent to 
which our stakeholders partner with us to ensure value is 
added to the sheriffs’ profession.

Rules Board for Courts of Law
Court Rules are an extremely important component of the 
civil justice process. The Rules Board has the mandate of 
designing and formulating appropriate legislation to ensure 
Court Rules operate in a fair and transparent manner. One 
of the more significant focal areas of the 2013/14 financial 
year has been the review of sheriffs’ tariffs by the Rules 
Board. It is well known that the tariff increments for sheriffs 
have lagged behind for nearly a decade. To this end, 
the South African Board for Sheriffs launched a detailed 
investigation into tariff-related matters, with the objective 
of developing a more sustainable basis for tariff increases 
by the Rules Board in the future. The study, conducted 
by Dr Jonathan Bloom and the University of Stellenbosch, 
recommended proposed tariff increases based on a more 
scientific basis of evaluation. The report has now been 
circulated to the relevant stakeholders for comment. The 
Board also recommended to the Minister for the sheriffs’ 
profession to be represented on the Rules Board.

South African Institute for Auctioneers

A study was done by the South African Board for Sheriffs in 
terms of the role of sheriffs as auctioneers vis-a-vis private 
auctioneers. The South African Board for Sheriffs had 
extensive engagements with the South African Institute for 
Auctioneers (SAIA) on the concerns pertaining to sheriffs’ 
auctions. The detailed study, by Rode & Associates, laid 
the basis for empirical evidence that the notion of lower 
sale prices being achieved by sheriffs in Sales in Execution 
is not a true reflection of market practices. The Rode Report 
will become an important benchmark tool for the sheriffs’ 
profession on how best to enhance the overall performance 
of both judgment debtor and judgment creditor. 

Chairperson’s report
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The Law Society of South Africa

Attorneys are a vital partner-client with sheriffs in the 
execution of their tasks. To this end, the Board has engaged 
with the Law Society of South Africa (LSSA) on numerous 
matters to ensure strong relationships and service delivery 
to clients and communities. Our engagements with the 
LSSA have centred on service delivery by sheriffs and non-
payment of sheriffs’ fees by attorneys. We believe that our 
mutual interest is an important one and that our continued 
partnership in effecting change will yield good results, 
ensuring cooperation between our two organisations.

The Office of the Chief Master

One of the key mandates of the South African Board for 
Sheriffs is to ensure that sheriffs’ offices are sustainable in 
the long term and thereby ensure a continuous revenue 
flow for the sheriffs’ profession. The Office of the Chief 
Master was engaged on matters of insolvency practices in 
the High Courts. In terms of the Insolvency Act 24 of 1936, 
sheriffs have a fundamental role to play in the execution 
of insolvency processes, but currently sheriffs are being 
‘locked out’ by insolvency practitioners. The Minister of 
Justice and Correctional Services recently approved a new 
policy that begins to shift the practice of the appointment 
of insolvency practitioners to be more transparent in the 
awarding of insolvency work. The Chief Master committed 
himself to working with the South African Board for Sheriffs 
and sheriffs to ensure greater transparency in the process of 
insolvency matters.

Demarcation Project

The DoJCD and the South African Board for Sheriffs have 
engaged on many projects over the past financial year, but 
none more important than the Demarcation Project, which 
reviewed many sheriffs’ areas in respect of point-to-point 
descriptions and the economic viability of these offices. The 
project reviewed over 20 offices nationally. The report is in its 
final stages and will be submitted to the Minister of Justice 
and Correctional Services. It will develop a template on how 
to deal with similar demarcation matters in future.

No Audit Qualification: Audit Outcome

On the administrative side, I am pleased to report that the 
Board has received its second unqualified audit; a positive 
achievement for all involved. During the audit certain non-
compliances to the Delegation of Authority, in terms of 
procurement, were identified. The Board has taken the 
necessary steps to prevent similar occurrences in the future, 
which include updating its policies to be in line with best 
practice and current legislation.

Executive Manager

Following the allegations of mismanagement of certain 
procurement processes against the Executive Manager, the 
Board agreed to place him on special leave on 21 May 2014 
pending an investigation. The Board will pronounce itself on 
the matter and its relationship with the Executive Manager 
going forward, once the investigation has been concluded 
and a clear outcome has been determined.

Conclusion

We believe that 2014/15 will also be an exciting year for the 
South African Board for Sheriffs and the sheriffs’ profession 
as we begin to implement the final year of our three-year 
strategic plan.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all our partners 
who made 2013/14 a successful one, in particular the 
previous Minister of Justice and Constitutional Development 
the Honourable Jeff Radebe, MP, and the Deputy Minister 
of Justice and Constitutional Development the Honourable 
John Jeffery, MP, and our esteemed colleagues, in particular 
the Director-General in the Department of Justice and 
Constitutional Development Nonkululeko Sindane, Advocate 
Hishaam Mohamed and Advocate JB Skosana. 

It is also my privilege to congratulate the new Minister of 
Justice and Correctional Services Honourable Michael 
Masutha, MP, and Deputy Ministers Honourable John Jeffery, 
MP, and Thabang Makwetla, MP, on their appointments. 
On behalf of the Board I extend our best wishes for a long 
and rewarding term and assure them of our attention and 
diligence going forward. 

Finally to my fellow Board members, thank you for your 
invaluable support, and special thanks to the management 
team and staff for implementing all the Board’s decisions 
with such zest.

Charmaine Mabuza
August 2014
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On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all our partners who 
made 2013/14 a successful one, in particular the Minister of Justice 
and Constitutional Development Honourable Jeff Radebe, MP, and 

the Deputy Minister of Justice and Constitutional Development 
Honourable John Jeffery, MP.

Honourable Jeff Radebe Honourable John Jeffery

The boardroom at the new office in 88 Loop Street can seat up to 20 individuals.
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In 2012, the Board approved its three-year strategic plan 
covering its work for its term. The past financial year was an 
extremely busy one for the South African Board for Sheriffs, 
its staff and its management team in implementing these 
strategic objectives. 

The financial year 2013/14 started off with a new, improved 
organisational structure that allows for greater efficiency in 
achieving our core functions. The establishment of dedicated 
divisions in our organisation in terms of compliance of sheriffs’ 
matters is the single most important structural change in 
the development of the Office of the Board. The Legal and 
Compliance Division ensures that sheriffs comply with their 
legal obligations in relation to the Act and its Regulations.  

The new organisational structure has created greater 
efficiency in which the Office of the Board was able to deal 
with its mandate, as well as allowing for better governance 
processes. This new structure also allows for greater growth 
of the South African Board for Sheriffs, as well as greater 
flexibility in the manner in which the Board attends to its 
mandate.

In the 2013/14 financial year we dealt extensively with a 
variety of staffing matters. The South African Board for Sheriffs 

entered into a two-year wage agreement with staff, thereby 
allowing for greater stability within the organisation. This also 
resulted in a greater focus and has not allowed us to be 
distracted in these matters. Furthermore, the South African 
Board for Sheriffs entered into new and revised contracts with 
all staff, including performance agreements. These replaced 
the outdated contracts and are in line with Labour Relations 
laws. These revised contracts will add further stability to all 
staff by giving certainty in their tenure of employment.

In 2013 we finalised an updated and revised Human 
Resources Policy for all staff. This was an important step in 
ensuring better labour relations.

The financial year 2013/14 started with the South African 
Board for Sheriffs occupying new offices. The new premises 
invigorated staff as space constraints were no longer an 
issue, and this allowed for greater efficiency in the work of 
management and staff. 

One of the key focal areas for management was to ensure 
operating systems were sound and effective. To this end, we 
commissioned various standard operating procedures for the 
organisation covering Finance, Investigations, Disciplinary 
Matters and the Fidelity Fund. The South African Board for 
Sheriffs is currently looking into the establishment of a standard 
operating procedure for the administration of sheriffs’ offices 
by the Board in terms of the Act and its Regulations.

The appointment of new sheriffs in the 2013/14 financial year 
was a major achievement. This is the culmination of two years 
of focused work by the DoJCD and the South African Board 
for Sheriffs to ensure that the offices of sheriffs are filled with 
permanent appointees. The Board has a central role to play in 
ensuring that the Sheriffs’ Introductory Course takes place for 
all newly-appointed sheriffs, as it is a prerequisite to be issued 
with a Fidelity Fund Certificate. The Sheriffs’ Introductory 
Course is a SASSETA-funded project, managed by the 
South African Board for Sheriffs and the Justice College of 
the DoJCD. The content of the Sheriffs’ Introductory Course 
lays an important foundation for newly-appointed sheriffs in 

Executive Manager’s report

Bongi Luthuli - Acting Executive Manager of the 
South African Board for Sheriffs

          One of the key focal areas for 
management was to ensure operating 
systems were sound and effective.
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understanding the scope of their offices and their mandate 
in law.

In 2013 the Board implemented SharePoint as its back-office 
database platform. The implementation of SharePoint ensures 
more efficient data-capturing and information-processing 
systems. It is planned that all information relevant to the work 
of the South African Board for Sheriffs will be captured into 
SharePoint, which will allow access to accurate information 
in respect of sheriffs and their offices, as well as sheriffs’ 
legal obligations to the Board in terms of the Sheriffs Act No. 
90 of 1986. SharePoint will become the single source of all 
data within the South African Board for Sheriffs and this will 
allow greater efficiency in how information is gathered and 
disseminated.

DIVISIONAL REPORTS

Finance and Corporate Services

This division is divided into two components: Finance, and 
Compliance and HR. The Finance subdivision has achieved 
great success in fulfilling the outputs of the last annual 
report. The GRAP financial system has been implemented 
smoothly and is ensuring greater transparency on the South 
African Board for Sheriffs’ finances. Our Finance division is 
appropriately staffed with all vacant positions filled.

Our Compliance and HR subdivision continues to implement 
new systems to ensure sheriffs are compliant with the Sheriffs 
Act. The final implementation of the SharePoint database 
platform will enable us to capture all elements of work of the 
Board in respect of sheriffs’ matters. SharePoint will enable 
us to work smartly and will ensure reporting in an appropriate 
manner. 

The Fidelity Fund continues to grow as a result of the work 
of the Board. The Board adopted a new investment strategy 
to grow the Fund without putting it at risk. Our reporting of 
the Fund is also linked to SharePoint, thereby ensuring that 
all finance-related matters are captured on SharePoint within 
their categories.

Legal and Complaints

Our Legal and Complaints division is now fully staffed 
and continues to grow in meeting the Board’s targets for 
investigations. The number of complaints received over the 
past two years have decreased significantly. This greater 
efficiency in the management of complaints is in part due to 
the implementation of the standard operating procedure for 
the Legal and Complaints Division, which has assisted the 
Board in adjudicating urgently on matters.

Training and Communications 

Our Training and Communications division has had a 
significant impact on the overall branding of the South 
African Board for Sheriffs, with many road shows over the 
past financial year. More engagements with the Board 
and individual sheriffs’ offices give effect to the continuous 
development of the sheriffs’ profession. With the assistance 
of the Justice College, we believe that our training will yield 
positive results in sheriffs’ offices.

The 2013/14 financial year has seen many projects being 
initiated that have become an important part of the work of the 
South African Board for Sheriffs. I refer specifically to a review 
undertaken by the Board in respect of roles and functions of 
sheriffs vis-a-vis roles and functions of private auctioneers, 
conducted by Rode & Associates property consultants. This 
study has become an important yardstick for the Board to 
enable them to engage with the Rules Board and private 
auctioneers in respect of work and auctions conducted by 
sheriffs. 

Another important study undertaken by the South African 
Board for Sheriffs relates to the important matter of tariffs. The 
sheriffs’ fraternity for many years has raised concerns about 
the inconsistencies in tariff increases by the Rules Board and 
the DoJCD. To this end, the Board appointed the University 
of Stellenbosch and Dr Jonathan Bloom to undertake an 
empirical study on behalf of the sheriffs’ profession. This 
report will become an important indicator in the debate for 
sheriffs’ tariff increases in future.

In conclusion, the 2013/14 financial year has been a historical 
one for the Board as it achieved its key objectives. As we 
enter the new financial year, we can look forward to the final 
implementation of the Board’s strategic objectives.

Bongi Luthuli
August 2014
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Legal and Liaison Committee

This Committee is tasked with considering all legal matters affecting the Board and the 
sheriffs’ profession, including:
• Providing advice and appropriate action on any legal issue facing the Board.

• Providing guidance on the process of investigating allegations of improper conduct against sheriffs.

• Providing advice on the re-demarcation of magisterial districts.

• Defining boundaries of sheriffs’ offices and the possible combining of offices.

• Liaison with all stakeholders.

Chairperson T Seboka, T Tembe and H Mohamed

Committee Reports
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One of the Board’s key objectives over the past 20 years 
has been the transformation of the profession, and it is 
with great pride that we can report this process has almost 
been fully achieved. The appointment of 68 sheriffs in the 
reporting period 2013/14, combined with the 119 appointed 
in 2012/13, has not only seen a significant change in the 
demographics of the profession but has almost eradicated 
the previous high level of vacancies. An additional 14 sheriffs 
were appointed on 27 February 2014.

These newly appointed sheriffs bring the total number of 
permanent sheriffs currently operating in the country from 
348 to 362. Of these 362 sheriffs, 172 are Whites (48%), 138 
are Africans (38 %), 28 are Indians (7%) and 24 are Coloured 
(7%). Women now represent 83 (23%) of the total sheriffs 
and men 279 (77%).

The transformation of the profession since democracy in 
1994 has been significant on two fronts. First, in 1994 white 
males made up 89% of the total and there was barely 5% 
female representation. 

The second area of transformation has been in the way 
sheriffs conduct themselves in the pursuance of their duties. 
The sheriff is an officer of the court and plays a pivotal 
role in the justice system. The Bill of Rights enshrines the 
rights of all people in our country but it’s often the poor and 
marginalised who do not see the benefits of these rights in the 
civil justice system. The sheriff, through his interaction with 
legal practitioners, court officials, the police and judgement 
creditors and debtors, is at the coalface of service delivery 
and needs to ensure that all processes are executed in 
accordance with those individuals’ rights. A newly introduced 
pledge is going to be the public embodiment of this second 
phase of transformation of the profession.

Gender and race of sheriffs as at 28 February 2014

    Gender Race

  Total Male Female White African Indian Coloured
Gauteng 58 43 15 16 39 0 3

KwaZulu-Natal 37 33 4 23 13 0 1

Mpumalanga 44 29 15 22 12 8 2

Limpopo 48 34 14 15 18 15 0

Free State 34 30 4 12 22 0 0

North West 33 27 6 20 13 0 0

Eastern Cape 28 20 8 14 12 1 1

Northern Cape 23 18 5 19 1 1 2

Western Cape 57 45 12 31 9 3 15

Total 2014 362 279 83 172 138 28 24

Gender and race of deputy sheriffs as at 28 February 2014

    Gender Race

  Total Male Female White African Indian Coloured

Gauteng 154 127 27 108 41 2 3

KwaZulu-Natal 103 84 19 29 33 38 3

Mpumalanga 59 43 16 33 25 0 1

Limpopo 39 31 8 19 20 0 0

Free State 57 46 11 38 19 0 0

North West 46 39 7 20 21 0 5

Eastern Cape 75 54 21 29 35 0 11

Northern Cape 26 18 8 12 2 0 12

Western Cape 151 128 23 73 8 1 69

Total 2014 710 570 140 361 204 41 104

One of the Board’s key objectives 
over the past 20 years has 
been the transformation of the 
profession
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The appointment of new sheriffs has seen a significant 
reduction in the need for acting or ad-hoc appointments, 
which is a positive development in service delivery for all 
stakeholders.

The Board, with the approval of the Minister, has developed 
an updated Code of Conduct for sheriffs. The previous code 
was last revised in 1990 and did not accurately reflect the 
current constitutional dispensation. Coupled with the code 
has been the creation of a service level agreement to which 
all sheriffs must adhere in the execution of their duties and 
responsibilities.

The public manifestation of the code and service level 
agreement is a Pledge that will be displayed in all sheriffs’ 
offices and courts highlighting what stakeholders can expect 
from the sheriff. The Pledge appears on page 3 of this Annual 
Report.

Legislative changes

Setting new boundaries with the Demarcation 
Project

Perhaps one of the most significant – and challenging – projects 
undertaken in recent times has been the Demarcation Project. 
The project had its roots in 2009, when a committee identified 
areas that could be re-designated to accommodate more 
than one sheriff. The 2012 Sardiwalla Report further identified 
issues surrounding service delivery and the demarcation of 
sheriff areas, which were compounded by the appointment of 
a number of new sheriffs in the same year.

A project manager was appointed in 2013 to investigate 
and report on 45 sheriffs’ offices countrywide concerning 
non-serviceable areas, disputes regarding point-to-point 
descriptions, areas of ‘no-man’s land’ and historical boundary 
disputes.

Rationalisation of magisterial districts

There is an ongoing project to align the boundaries across 
all government services. Frequently health, education, justice, 
police and municipal boundaries differ creating difficulties for 
efficient service delivery. Two provinces will be completed 
during 2014 – Gauteng and North West – and it is anticipated 
that the remaining seven provinces will be completed in 2015 
and 2016.

Sales in Execution remain a concern

Issues surrounding sheriffs’ roles in Sales in Execution 
continue to be a major concern for the profession. The rules 
governing these sales of immovable property are prescribed 
in Rule 46 of the Uniform Rules of Court and require the 
Conditions of Sale to be prepared by the execution creditor 
in accordance with Form 21 of the First Schedule. However, 

the clauses contained in the present version of this form are 
old and do not reflect current economic parameters, business 
practices and legislation.

An independent specialist property consultancy was 
engaged to review the Sales in Execution process. Key 
outcomes from that process include:

• 96% of properties in Sales in Execution are auctioned by  
 order of the High Court, the preserve of the sheriff.

• Sales in Execution are by their very nature traumatic for  
 the debtor, causing him or her to become    
 uncooperative and obstructive.

• The sheriff’s auction is part of, and inseparable from, the 
 comprehensive Sales in Execution process mandated in  
 Law; the sheriff is an executive of the law and not an   
 agent of any person.

• Banks pay 5-6% uncapped commission for auctions of  
 repossessed properties, while auctioneers can earn   
 up to 10% commission for privately-mandated auctions.  
 Sheriffs’ tiered and capped commissions for more   
 complex processes amount to 3.8% up to a maximum   
 of R255 000, with no allowance for advertising   
 disbursements.

• The variance between sheriffs’ remunerations and those  
 of independent auctioneers is significant; given that the   
 sheriffs’ scope of work and responsibility is higher, this   
 issue needs to be addressed.

• Generically, because auctions put the buyer ‘on the   
 spot’, they are less appealing than the conventional  
 residential property sales process, items are bound to   
 sell at a discount.

• The Board should approach the Competition    
 Commission to seek clarity on how the Competition Act  
 impacts on property that is attached and sold pursuant   
 to a High Court judgment.

• Greater use of online platforms should be made to   
 increase exposure of auctions.

Amendments receive presidential approval

The Sheriffs Amendment Act No. 14 of 2012 was assented 
to by the President in December 2012 and is now law. This 
Act has a number of significant improvements over the old 
Sheriffs Act No. 90 of 1986, including:

• The provision for establishing Advisory Committees to  
 help with the appointment of sheriffs.

• The provision to regulate the appointment of acting   
 sheriffs in a particular suite of conditions determined by   
 the Minister.

• The provision to empower the Minister to appoint   
 sheriffs and acting sheriffs in areas where no    
 appointments have been made in order to execute the   
 functions of a sheriff other than the process of any court 
 or other document.



21South African Board for Sheriffs’ Annual Report 2013-2014

• The provision to regulate allowances paid to members   
 of the South African Board for Sheriffs.

• The provision for the restructuring of the Board and the  
 appointment of an interim Board.

• The provision for regulating the use of the Fidelity Fund.

• The provision for regulating the auditing of records and  
 financial statements of the Fidelity Fund.

• The provision for regulating improper conduct by sheriffs.

The Civil Justice Review Project is ongoing

The Civil Justice Review Project is making steady progress 
in its key objectives of aligning the civil justice system with 
the Constitution to make it efficient, simpler, affordable 
and accessible to all – particularly the poor and vulnerable 
members of society. The Board has played an important 
contributory role in this process so far and will continue for 
the remainder of the project.

Tariff increases remain a concern

As with many other professions, the question of service 
tariffs is of ongoing concern for sheriffs. Research indicates 
that increases have been erratic and do not necessarily 
follow any scientific formula. In the 12-year period from 2001 
to 2013, increases have averaged 4.2% per annum while the 
Consumer Price Index has averaged 5.6%. This represents 
a more than 33% annual lag in increases.

Recommendations from a study group on this topic 
proposed:

• A regular review of fees and expenses – at least annually  
 and preferably bi-annually.

• Identification of a method of cost checks to validate and  
 report on any significant movement in costs.

• An investigation of time-based remuneration for certain   
 types of services that are not covered in the  
 tariff schedule or additional activities that have come   
 about because of Rule changes.

• A review of travel charges, particularly how they differ for  
 urban and rural offices.

Stakeholder engagement

One of the hallmarks of this Board’s tenure has been the 
increased focus on stakeholder engagement. This originated 
with the two voluntary sheriffs’ organisations and has 
progressed to include a broad range of parties that share 
similar issues or concerns, such as the Banking Forum and 
the SA Institute of Auctioneers. The discussion of mutual 
challenges in a non-confrontational environment has seen a 
number of key issues resolved or elevated for further review.

The Board met with the Chief Magistrates’ Forum during 
November 2013 and it proved to be a particularly fruitful 
session. Discussions centred on:

• Magistrates’ statutory obligations in  signing off sheriffs’   
 financial audits.

• Magistrates assisting and providing  guidance in the   
 handover process between outgoing and incoming   
 sheriffs.

• Greater cooperation between magistrates and sheriffs,   
 possibly even encouraging sheriffs to be part of case- 
 flow management. This practice has been implemented  
 in some jurisdictions and has worked extremely well.

• The introduction of a Service Level Agreement for  
 sheriffs, which should see a marked improvement in   
 service delivery commitments.

Funding of voluntary associations under 
consideration

The Board recognises that the profession requires effective 
and functional voluntary associations to represent the 
grassroots thinking of sheriffs. Currently there are two such 
organisations: the South African National Association of 
Progressive Sheriffs (Sanaps) and the South African Sheriffs’ 
Society (Sass).

In order to assist these and any future organisations with the 
same mandate, the Board is considering a policy that will 
help in funding their activities.  
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Fidelity Fund Committee

This Committee is tasked with:
• Conducting a governance review of the Fund, and implementing and strengthening operational   
 systems.

• Attending to all outstanding claims against the Fund.

• Strengthening the people capacity of the division.

• Reviewing the investment portfolio to ensure maximum growth while ensuring compliance with Section  
 15 of the Sheriffs Act.

• Updating the website with information regarding the Fidelity Fund and how to institute a claim against it.

A Mawela, Chairperson P Roodt and H Mohamed
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The Fidelity Fund was established in terms of Section 26 
of the Sheriffs Act. The primary purpose of the Fund is to 
be used as a source of revenue to compensate those who 
have suffered any prejudice as a result of misconduct or 
omissions by a sheriff. The monies accrued in the Fund are 
housed in various investments and the capital is guaranteed 
with interest reinvested into the Fund. The issuing of a 
Fidelity Fund Certificate is the cornerstone of being able 
to operate as a sheriff; no person can render services as a 
sheriff without one.

An important milestone this year has been the development 
and implementation of a standard operating procedure for 
the way the Fund is administered. This has standardised 
the way that complaints against, and investigations and 
payments by, the Fund are managed – important for both 
claimants and Office staff.

The standard operating procedure means that every staff 
member understands the process and requirements of 
each step when dealing with claims, which in turn means 
that claims are handled more professionally and with quicker 
turnaround times.

This uniform approach has identified several areas of 
concern, not the least of which was the high incidence of 
zero-interest returns. Investigations are underway to identify 
the cause(s) of this, as it may indicate that some sheriffs are 
not following the correct procedures by depositing funds 
in their normal Business account rather than their Trust 
accounts. This in turn means a loss of income for the Fidelity 
Fund.

Revenue

The major portion of the Fund revenues comes from 
interest earned on the Trust accounts of the sheriffs. The 
slight decrease is indicative of the market conditions in 
which the sheriffs operate.

Revenue from investments remained constant, as the 
value of the Fund remained almost the same.

Fund revenue 2014

Sales of goods- 2%

Interest received - Trust Accounts- 61%

Claims: Insurance Policy- 11%

Interest received - Investments- 26%

An important milestone this year has been the development and 
implementation of a standard operating procedure for the way the 
Fund is administered. This has standardised the way that complaints 
against, and investigations and payments by, the Fund are managed 
– important for both claimants and Office staff.
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Expenses

The major expense for the Fund is the administrative fee paid to the Board. The rate at which it is paid has increased from 
7.5% to 8.5%.

Claims recognised as an expense dropped as the claims were recognised in the previous financial year. The amount paid will 
differ, as the amount recognised during the previous year would have been paid in the current year. This change was made 
due to the implementation of GRAP (Generally Recognised Accounting Practice).

Insurances increased as the cover for Professional Indemnity increased from R2 million to R3 million during the financial year.

Sheriffs receive their Fidelity Fund Certificates from the Chairperson of the Board, Charmaine Mabuza.

It is pleasing to report that all sheriffs were issued with 
their Fidelity Fund Certificates, meaning that all their legal 
obligations to the Board were in place and correct. This is 
significant because it is the first time in several years that this 

Sheriff of Graskop, Lawrence Machete Sheriff of Polokwane, Anna Ralehlaka

Issuing of Fidelity Fund Certificates

Fund expenses 2014

Bad debts- 1%

Bank charges- 1%

Insurance- 7%

Claims against the Fidelity Fund- 4%

Legal fees- 5%

Loss on sale of building- 3%

Levies- 1%

Utilities- 1%

Depreciation- 1%

Administration fees- 71%

Consulting fees- 5%

has been the case. The increased diligence and preparatory 
work done by the staff within the Office has been an important 
contributor to this achievement.
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Growth

Over the last few years the Fund has grown at a steady but 
slow rate. In the last two years the growth was very slow, 
which can be attributed to the drop in revenue from the 
sheriffs’ profession.

With the resultant effect of the implementation of the new 
organisational structure it became evident that the current 
office requirement needs of the SABFS had to be reviewed. 

To this end the Board embarked on a process of acquiring 
new offices for its staff. It was further more evident from the 
Board’s old premises, that the health and safety of staff 
was compromised within the confined space of the offices. 

Fidelity Fund growth

R50 000 000

R0
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

R100 000 000

R150 000 000

Claims against the Fidelity Fund

The Fidelity Fund received claims to the value of R9 992 740 against the Sheriff of Kempton Park North, Mr TG Mogane. The 
Board finally approved an amount of R6 964 277 be paid to claimants. An amount of R6 032 193 has been paid so far and 
R932 084 remains to be settled.

In terms of the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986, which establishes 
the Fidelity Fund, the Board is entitled to invest 10% of the 
capital value of the Fund in property as an asset class. With 
this in mind the Board duly resolved that it was a good and 
sound investment for the Fidelity Fund to invest in a new 
property. The old building of the SABFS would be dispensed 
of and a new building would be acquired.

The 88 Loop Street building is of tremendous value in terms 
of location and size, as well as access to parking and is 
located in the CBD of Cape Town. The old property in Spin 
Street was disposed of on 26 February 2014.

A summary of the approved payment scheduled is detailed below: Rand Value

Total claims submitted 9 992 740

Claims approved by the Board 6 964 277

Paid as follows: Rand Value

Trust monies from Mr Mogane 2 522 723

Monies from the insurer 2 491 428

Paid from the Fidelity Fund 1 018 042

Total paid to date 6 032 193

Outstanding due by the Fidelity Fund 932 084
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Case No. Claimant Rand value

28880/04 Nedbank Limited/AS Cula & NP Olayi 4 500.00 

27907/05 Nedbank Limited/VD & LL Mkhize 80 000.00 

27908/05 Nedbank Limited/D Msiza 3 160.00 

9740/2005 Nedbank Limited/MJ Kaka 26 142.00 

4494/2005 Nedbank Limited/M & T Nyerenda 144 000.00 

34555/2005 Nedbank Limited/G Dlamini 51 758.00 

7023/2005 Nedbank Limited/ALM Motaung 123 000.00 

35627/03 Nedbank Limited/K Mncube 126 900.00 

28408/06 Nedbank Limited/PB & LS Mncube 13 791.00 

21860/07 Nedbank Limited/Tuckers Inc 221 000.00 

35131/06 Nedbank Limited/Schumanns 175 000.00 

12800/05 Nedbank Limited/Tuckers Inc 139 000.00 

28162/03 Nedbank Limited/Findlay 120 000.00 

1717/05 Nedbank Limited/HS&R 120 000.00 

27714/03 Nedbank Limited/LOWNDES 40 000.00 

16693/04 Nedbank Limited/HS&R 95 000.00 

21086/05 Nedbank Limited/HS&R 90 000.00 

8864/00 Nedbank Limited/Findlay 83 000.00 

2865/05 Nedbank Limited/HS&R 81 000.00 

  Nedbank Limited/HS&R 5 000.00 

18520/06 Nedbank Limited/Tuckers Inc 3 287.35 

2082/05 Nedbank Limited/BVZ 325 000.00 

3695/07 Nedbank Limited/BVZ 320 000.00 

18519/06 Nedbank Limited/Tuckers Inc 312 000.00 

16721/07 Nedbank Limited/LOWNDES 297 962.00 

11306/06 Nedbank Limited/LOWNDES 297 000.00 

11588/08 Nedbank Limited/Velile Tinto 295 000.00 

3430/07 Nedbank Limited/LOWNDES 191 000.00 

25597/07 Nedbank Limited/Weavind & Weavind 175 000.00 

14304/08 Nedbank Limited/Velile Tinto 150 000.00 

12800/05 Nedbank Limited/Tuckers Inc 139 000.00 

29771/05 Nedbank Limited/LOWNDES 99 000.00 

18500/03 Nedbank Limited/Blakes Maphanga 35 016.00 

25048/07 Nedbank Limited/RS  Nghorczweni 25 780.00 

  Nedbank Limited 24 800.00 

18440/07 Nedbank Limited/HA Magotho 19 500.00 

14881/08 Nedbank Limited/JC Konyape & N Masoka 17 720.00 

  Nedbank Limited 12 014.00 

Claims against the Fidelity Fund
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Case No. Claimant Rand value

  Nedbank Limited 11 343.00 

5880/08 Nedbank Limited/TW Zwane 11 132.00 

25543/07 Nedbank Limited/A Moyana 10 813.00 

6851/08 Nedbank Limited/G Seakamela & SL seakamela 9 995.00 

7120/08 Nedbank Limited/Z Memela 8 871.00 

24916/07 Nedbank Limited/LR Mokoena & B Mokgadi 6 425.00 

20648/07 Nedbank Limited/NE Dubadzi & PF Dubadzi 3 402.00 

19452/07 Nedbank Limited/ET Mashethe & GD Mashethe 2 990.00 

19052/07 Nedbank Limited/Stevie Shoko 36 880.00

22564/08 Nedbank Ltd/Hullet: Ivan Bernard 24 200.00

29476/07 NedbankLimited/Mashaba Sipho Josias 31 980.00

15992/05 Nedbank Limited/M Madiba 155 000.00

18796/08   54 500.00 

Total claims paid     6 032 194.35 

Note: Once claims are approved for payment by the Fidelity Fund there are often monies in the respective sheriff’s Trust accounts that can be attached 
to supplement the claim.

Other claims against the Fidelity Fund that have been paid

File no Claimant Sheriff Rand value

F204 ABSA/LG Roberts Coetzee: Maitland 199 498.89 

F201 FNB/D Matthews Jacobs:  Mitchells Plain 17 000.00 

2331/09 FNB/ND Nkosi Yon: Khayelitsha 6 500.00 

2538/09 FNB/N Sali Yon: Khayelitsha 7 800.00 

F215 Derek Organ Jacobs:  Mitchells Plain 3 800.00 

F270 Christoper Niyabo Yon: Khayelitsha 39 394.00 

F210 R Ephraim Jacobs:  Mitchells Plain 3 823.10 

F224 MELLOWS & DE SWARDT Yon: Khayelitsha 57 382.00 

F280 Collect 4U CC (Debt collectors) Yon: Khayelitsha 1 500.00 

PP214 AD Hertzberg Attorneys Butler : Thabazimbi 30 000.00 

Total claims paid 366 697.99 
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Standing Disciplinary Committee

This Committee is tasked with:
• Dealing with complaints from the public concerning sheriff misconduct.

• Resolving complaints of a less serious nature.

• Overseeing formal disciplinary hearings.

• Monitoring sheriffs’ compliance with their legal obligations.

Chairperson T Tembe, P Roodt and N Nxumalo
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Complaints are organised according to the province from 
which they originate. Complaints resolved includes complaints 
carried over from the previous financial year. KwaZulu-Natal 
registered the highest number of complaints for the 2013/14 
financial year, followed by Limpopo. The lowest figures came 
from the Northern Cape. 

The move to an electronic complaints management system 
has dramatically improved the staff’s performance in this 

How to lodge a complaint

A complaint against a sheriff must be lodged in writing on the 
prescribed Form 3 (which is available on the sheriffs’ website 
www.sheriffs.org.za). Once received by the South African 
Board for Sheriffs, it will be registered and classified.

• Category A complaints are actions that do not constitute  
 improper conduct in terms of the Sheriffs Act.

• Category B complaints are actions or omissions that  
 prima facie constitute less serious improper conduct  

Complaints statistics

 that can be administratively dealt with according to the   
 Code of Conduct for Sheriffs.

• Category C complaints are actions or omissions that  
 prima facie constitute serious improper conduct and   
 require further investigation.

• Category D complaints are actions or omissions that  
 prima facie constitute serious improper conduct that 
 require a disciplinary hearing.

Province
New complaints 

received
Complaints 

resolved
Complaints 

pending

Kwazulu-Natal 30 38 32

Limpopo 27 83 44

Eastern Cape 18 129 30

Gauteng 14 116 18

Mpumalanga 11 15 13

North West 7 31 9

Free State 4 12 4

Western Cape 4 21 4

Northern Cape 3 3 3

Total 118 448 157

Category D complaints are actions or omissions that prima facie 
constitute serious improper conduct that require a disciplinary 
hearing.

department. Previously, tasks were managed using a manual 
system, which resulted in delays and slow turnaround.  
The majority of complaints are now resolved within three 
months of original capture, compared to more than 12 
months on the manual system.
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Laying of criminal charges

Sheriffs are mandated to perform their functions within their 
area of jurisdiction within the Lower or Superior Courts to 
which they have been appointed. The sheriffs must, by law, 
keep a Trust account in terms of Section 22 of the Act.

By virtue of their office and position, sheriffs receive two types 
of monies in the execution of their duties. The first is for their 
services rendered, as per the tariffs passed by the Minister 
of Justice and Constitutional Development and published in 
the Government Gazette. The second is Trust monies that 
they receive from debtors and from the proceeds of goods 
or properties that have been attached and sold in Sales in 
Execution.

Criminal charges laid against sheriffs

  Sheriff Area Case number

Mr Kgosana Lebowakgomo 448/03/2013

Sheriffs’ fees are to be kept in a Business account, whereas 
Trust monies are to be kept in the Trust account, as such 
monies belong to the public. Sheriffs are expected to transact 
with Trust account monies only when paying them over to 
Trust creditors, and not for their own personal use. Hence, 
a Trust account cannot run into deficit, cheques cannot be 
issued from it (and neither can they be returned by the bank 
as unpaid). No cash cheques can be issued from it.

Some sheriffs have been found to have embezzled Trust 
monies, and for this reason criminal charges were laid against 
them.

Sheriff Allegations Verdict 

Mr Kgosana (Limpopo) Delay/failure in paying 
over Trust money

The sheriff was found guilty of contravening section 
43 (1) d of the Sheriffs Act.

The Board recommended the removal of Mr Kgosana to the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services.

An analysis of the statistics below indicates that we need to ensure that we receive sheriffs’ responses timeously. Only in this 
way will we be able to improve our case cycle times and ultimately, our service to the public.

Most common causes of complaints

Nature of complaint Percentage

Delay and failure to execute warrants timeously; Ignoring correspondence and 
instructions from plaintiffs/defendants

46

Failure to tender return of service in the prescribed manner 31

Failure to treat plaintiffs/defendants with respect and human dignity (Ignorance of  
Human Rights)

10

Delay and failure to pay over Trust monies timeously 10

Overcharging/overreaching 3
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Investigations report

The Investigations division was established to improve 
the Board’s regulatory capabilities and, as such, plays an 
important role in combatting fraud, misrepresentations, the 
misappropriation of funds, and non-compliance with the laws, 
policies and procedures governing the sheriffs’ profession. 
Improved capacity has seen a more than 30% increase in the 
number of investigations undertaken in the reporting period. 

It is concerning to note that the Eastern Cape remains the most 
problematic of the nine provinces regarding new investigations.

Fraud or theft of Trust monies were most problematic in 
Mpumalanga and Limpopo, where a total of four investigations 
were conducted.

Another concerning trend that investigators picked up during 
2013/14 is that in some cases sheriffs receive Trust money but 
do not place it in their Trust account but rather in their personal or 
other bank accounts. This is clearly a violation of the Sheriffs Act.

In some instances it was noted that problems arose because the 
office of the sheriff was not functioning properly, either because 
of inadequate equipment or a dysfunctional administrative 
system.

Province
Investigations 

completed

Eastern Cape 9

Gauteng 2

Kwazulu-Natal 4

Limpopo 8

Mpumalanga 4

North West 2

Northern Cape 1

Western Cape 1

Free State 0

Total 31

The Investigations division was established to improve the Board’s 
regulatory capabilities and, as such, plays an important role in 
combatting fraud, misrepresentations, the misappropriation of 
funds, and non-compliance with the laws, policies and procedures 
governing the sheriffs’ profession
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Training and Communications Committee

This Committee is tasked with:
•	 The	development	and	implementation	of	a	training	strategy	for	the	sheriffs’	profession.

•	 Ensuring	that	the	training	strategy,	materials	and	methods	used	are	evaluated	in	order	to	ensure		 	 	
 improved service delivery and transformation of the profession.

•	 Developing	a	strategy	that	is	sustainable	and	can	be	institutionalised	in	the	long	term.

•	 Appointing	a	chairperson	or	elected	member	who	represents	the	South	African	Board	for	Sheriffs	at	the		 	
 South African Safety and Security SETA (SASSETA).

•	 Electing	members	to	SASSETA	or	other	industry-related	organisations	who	are	able	to	execute	the	functions		 	
 and roles assigned to them.

•	 Running	a	communications	programme	that	ensures	all		stakeholders	are	aware	of	the	role	of	the	sheriff,	along	 
 with their individual and collective rights and responsibilities.

H Ntsikeni, Chairperson L Best and H Choma
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An updated three-year communications plan was developed 
and implemented from the beginning of March 2013, 
focused on two priorities: education and the corporate 
identity of sheriffs’ offices around the country.

Education programmes

This committee has an overarching responsibility to 
develop and present various sheriff training and education 
programmes. The Board has developed a formal relationship 
with Justice College, an accredited training provider 
affiliated to the Department of Justice and Constitutional 
Development.

The flagship training project for 2012 and 2013 was the 
SAQA-accredited Sheriffs’ Introductory Course. The 
purpose of this programme is to induct all newly appointed 
sheriffs, and its successful completion is mandatory for the 
issuing of a Fidelity Fund Certificate by the Board. Graduates 
will have an understanding of civil law and its enforcement, 
and show responsibility by independently and effectively 
managing themselves and others.

The Sheriffs’ Introductory Course is supported by six unit 
standards. The accumulated credits for these unit standards 
are 45. Each credit is equal to 10 ‘notional’ hours, which 
means the learner would have to complete 450 hours in 
the training programme, in the form of classroom sessions, 
mentorship/practical training and self-study.

An updated three-year 
communications plan was 
developed and implemented 
from the beginning of March 
2013, focused on two priorities: 
education, and the corporate 
identity of sheriffs’ offices around 
the country.

The six unit standards that form the Sheriffs’ Introductory Course skills programme:

110003 Develop administrative procedures in a selected organisation

116608 Demonstrate knowledge and application of ethical conduct in a debt-recovery work context

252388 Explain and implement the writ of execution and enforcement process

252389 Explain and implement service in the civil justice system

252390 Demonstrate applied knowledge of financial administration in a sheriff’s office

252391 Explain legal concepts in respect of sheriffing

Learners are expected to attend one week of training, after which they are placed at a mentor’s (sheriff’s) office for a week. 
They then return to the classroom for a final week of training and assessments. The weeks in the classroom are structured to 
allow for a period of self-study and the opportunity for learners to complete a portfolio of evidence. The assessment process 
requires that assignments, interviews and a closed book test be completed by the learner and submitted in the form of a 
portfolio of evidence. 

I Adimoolum (Assessor), E Mofzoa (SASSETA), M Mosito (SASSETA) and V Nel (Training and 
Communications Manager) at an assessor’s workshop in Cape Town.
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• Customer Service Skills

• Time and Project Management

Subsequent training initiatives will be formulated with the 
sheriffs’ responses in mind.

Public education

The Board hosted four road shows, in Cape Town, East 
London, Durban and Centurion, and participated in three 
imbizos organised by the Department of Justice and 
Constitutional Development where information pamphlets 
and branded material were distributed. Additional events 
included a Women’s Day event in August 2013 in Delft and 
at the Mitchells Plain Magistrates Court in December 2013 to 
coincide with the 16 Days of Activism campaign.

An interview of the Board Chairperson has been secured 
in De Rebus, the legal fraternity journal, along with some 
additional advertising space over a six-month period. 

World Sheriffs’ Day

The Board, as well as a number of individual sheriffs’ offices, 
celebrated World Sheriffs’ Day on 6 June 2013. This global 
event has become a popular occasion among local sheriffs 
and normally includes a number of outreach activities where 
sheriffs interact with their communities, taking time to 
explain their role in the civil justice system. This year, Board 
members attended the opening of the Trauma Centre at the 
Delft Police Station in Cape Town.

Information concerning World Sheriffs’ Day was sent to 
various media including television, radio and the daily and 
community press, resulting in exposure on the following 
platforms:
• Radio Teemang – Board member Mrs P Roodt was   
 interviewed

• East Wave Radio – Board member Ms F Moeletsi was   
 interviewed

• Radio KC – Sheriff Mr F van Greunen was interviewed

• Ikhwekhwezi FM – Board member Mr T Seboka was   
 interviewed

• Pretoria News article

SABFS website

The website continues to grow as a communication platform, 
with the following improvements during the year:

• An online complaints form that enables the complainant  
 to submit their complaint electronically and, in so doing,  
 to speed up the time in which a complaint reaches the   
 Office of the Board. 

Each Sheriffs’ Introductory Course requires extensive 
preparation in order to ensure that the facilitators and 
assessors are fully conversant with the duties they are 
expected to perform. A Sheriffs’ Introductory Course 
commenced in November 2012 with 86 delegates in five 
different locations and was completed in March 2013 with 
68 learners achieving competence. 

A similar programme in 2013 saw 47 delegates embark on 
the Sheriffs’ Introductory Course in four locations, with all 47 
being declared competent at the conclusion.

The SASSETA must be acknowledged for the important role 
it has played in funding the Sheriffs’ Introductory Course for 
2012, 2013 and 2014.

Continuing Professional Development 
programme

When complaints from the public were analysed, it became 
evident that many of the problems were the result of 
inadequate knowledge of the correct procedures to be 
followed, rather than intentional negligence or criminal intent 
on the part of the sheriff concerned.

The Board has opted to introduce a Continuing Professional 
Development programme to assist sheriffs who may be 
struggling to provide an efficient service to their stakeholders. 
This is more preferable than merely punishing the errant 
sheriff through the standing disciplinary mechanisms.

An initial group of 23 sheriffs’ offices participated in 
this training intervention during 2013. Early results are 
extremely positive and we see this Continuing Professional 
Development programme as making a valuable ongoing 
contribution to improving the efficiency of sheriffs’ offices 
around the country.

Needs-based training survey

The Board is determined to improve the performance of 
sheriffs at grassroots level and the Training division was 
commissioned to conduct a countrywide three-part survey 
among sheriffs’ offices to determine their individual training 
needs.

The feedback listed the following courses as most popular 
among sheriffs:

• Computer Skills

• Law Enforcement Sheriffing

• Sheriffs’ Introductory Course

• Execution

• Service 

• Financial Administration

• Communication Skills
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Durban road show

Pretoria road show

East London road show
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• Streamlined sheriff search functionality for faster and   
 more efficient use. It now includes a more detailed   
 search process that enables the user to search via the   
 sheriff’s name, magisterial district and/or service area.

• Streamlined auction upload function was made more   
 user friendly. Sheriffs are able to log in using their   
 username and password, click on the auction upload   
 function and follow the simple steps to upload photos   
 and details of the items. 

• An online store where sheriffs’ branded clothing and   
 other items are available for purchase. The user selects   
 the items and quantities and places the order online,  
 and the service provider contacts them directly and  
 processes the order for delivery.

SMS communication programme

The SMS communication programme has proven to be 
one of the most effective ways of communicating with 
stakeholders and one we intend to grow in the future. More 
than 254 000 SMSs have been sent out to the Board’s 
database of recipients, valued at over R65 000.

Newsletter

The quarterly Siyanazisa newsletter continues to be well 
received by stakeholders and includes some, or all, of the 
following:

• New appointments

• News on the Sheriffs’ Introductory Course

• Road shows

• World Sheriffs’ Day

• Legal obligations

• Sheriffs’ visits

• Rules Board submissions

• News on website improvements

• News on the SharePoint administration  
 system

Information pamphlets

The information pamphlets have been updated 
and are available in nine of the official languages. 
They have been distributed through the regional 
offices of the Department of Justice and 
Constitutional Development as well as directly to 
sheriffs’ offices. A framed Sheriff’s Pledge (see 
page 2) has also been distributed to all sheriffs’ 
offices and courts throughout the country.

Sheriffs’ Handbook

The Sheriffs’ Handbook is in the final 
stages of production and will be available 
during 2014. The group tasked with  
this project, under the able guidance 

of author Professor Mohamed Paleker from the 
University of Cape Town, have done a sterling job and 
our appreciation goes out to Advocate Hlako Choma,  
Sheriff Johan Fourie, Sheriff Harry Janse van Niewenhuizen 
and Sheriff Indran Adimoolum. We anticipate that this 
publication will not only be a resource for sheriffs but will 
also become a standard item in legal libraries and law offices 
throughout the country.

Branding to unify the profession

It is envisaged that introducing a uniform corporate 
identity across all sheriffs’ offices will be a valuable step 
in professionalising the image of sheriffs and creating an 
identity that the public will be able to recognise and respect. 
A brand manual detailing the precise specifications to be 
used in each application has been developed to assist 
sheriffs in applying the guidelines to their own operations.

While each sheriff’s office is an independent business, they 
will be encouraged to adopt the Board’s proposed corporate 
identity across stationery, signage and even clothing. A 
service provider has been appointed to supply a wide range 
of clothing and associated items, which can be ordered 
online via the website.
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It is envisaged that introducing 
a uniform corporate identity 
across all sheriffs’ offices will be a 
valuable step in professionalising 
the image of sheriffs.
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Newly-appointed sheriffs attended the Sheriffs’ Introductory Course throughout the country. Fifteen of 
them, pictured below, attended the Cape Town session.
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Finance and Human Resources Committee

This Committee is tasked with:
• Advising and guiding the Board with regards to the organisation’s financial affairs.

• The recruitment, retention, measurement and remuneration of office staff.

• The state of current and future information technology (IT) and system requirements.

Chairperson A Mawela, F Moeletsi and T Seboka
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The 2013/14 financial year was a significant one for the way 
the Office was administered and how it functioned, resulting 
in a more efficient service to all stakeholders. Changes 
included:

• A new organisational structure, implemented from  
 1 March 2013. Significant resources were allocated to  
 staff with nine people embarking on a Diploma in  
 Paralegal Studies. Five members have graduated from  
 the one-year programme and it is hoped that the  
 remaining four will do so in due course.

• All staff being evaluated for their competencies on  
 the Microsoft suite of programs and each person’s  
 requirements determined. They were then sent for  
 training on the modules where they had a need but  
 lacked skills.

• A restructuring of the Finance Division to ensure that  
 the Board would comply with the Generally Recognised  
 Accounting Practice (GRAP) which is commonly used in  
 the public sector. This has been successfully  
 implemented and, as part of this migration, the debtors  
 and creditors system – a component within the  
 SharePoint enterprise management system – was  
 successfully commissioned during the year. This  
 ensures that accounting records are more accurate and  
 that payments are better controlled. The debtors system  
 ensures that monies due to the Board are identified  
 early and can be collected timeously. The system has  
 also identified anomalies in payments received from  
 some sheriffs’ offices, and these will be followed up on.

Board revenue

The Board generates its income largely from the 1.5% (turnover) levy on sheriffs and a 8.5% administration fee from the 
Fidelity Fund. It is obvious that the growth and financial performance of the Fidelity Fund is key to the long-term viability and 
sustainability of the Board’s activities. Smaller income accrues from fines imposed on sheriffs for various infractions, and 
SASSETA provides grant funding for training-related projects.

The newly-developed HR Policy Manual incorporates a 
comprehensive performance management policy that outlines 
in detail how performance should be managed within the 
organisation. 

Levies received- 23%

Administration fees- 53%

Investment income- 1%

SASSETA grants- 19%

Other Income- 4%

Board revenue 2014
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Board expenditure

Employee costs account for about 48% of Board expenditure 
for the year. The jump in employee costs can be attributed 
to the creation and filling of three new positions. Another 
significant expense is for governance, which includes the 
cost of Committee and Board meetings held during the year. 

Sars question unresolved

During the 2012/13 financial year our auditors questioned 
the VAT status of the Fidelity Fund and the administrative fee 
charged by the Board to the Fidelity Fund. This matter has 
been raised with SARS and the outcome is unknown.

HR and operational policy adopted

A comprehensive HR Policy Manual was developed during 
the year and adopted by the Board in November 2013. The 
development of the policy took over six months and involved 
intense negotiations and consultation with staff, facilitated 
by external consultants. The new Policy Manual has the 
buy-in and ownership of all staff, as they were part of its 
development. 

Performance Management Policy introduced

The newly developed HR Policy Manual incorporates a 
comprehensive performance management policy that 
outlines in detail how performance should be managed 
within the organisation. As mandated by the newly adopted 

Performance Management Policy, all staff members within 
the organisation have signed a performance agreement for 
the first time in the history of the organisation. This is an 
important development in improving the level of service to 
all stakeholders.

Staff contracts renegotiated

The development of the new HR Policy Manual necessitated 
that all staff members enter into new employment contracts 
with the organisation. An enhancement for staff has been the 
adoption of a formal medical aid plan, where previously staff 
had to retain their own service provider for this facility. During 
the year, the Board and the staff signed a two-year wage 
agreement covering the period through to February 2015, 
and negotiated a recognition agreement with the National 
Education Health & Allied Workers’ Union (Nehawu). 

Change of bankers

During the 2013/14 financial year, the Board decided to 
change its operational bankers. A tender process was 
followed whereby the four major banks were invited to 
submit proposals on the services and fees relating to those 
services. After adjudication, Standard Bank was chosen to 
become the operational bank of the Board and the Fund. 
We welcome Standard Bank on board and thank Absa for 
the good service they have given the Board and the Fidelity 
Fund over the years.

Board & subcommittees- 12% General Operations- 1%

Executive Manager’s Office- 2% Contracts ie. cleaning, 
maintenance- 1%Legal & Complaints Division- 3%
Other General Office 
Expenditure- 8%

Formal Disciplinary Hearings- 1%

Personal Expenditure- 42%
Finance, Administration & 
Compliance Division- 5%

Communications Activities- 9% Contingency budget- 2%

Training- 14%

Board expenses 2014



41

Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 28 February 2014

South African Board for Sheriffs 
Established in terms of the Sheriffs Act No. 90 of 1986, as amended



42

Contents

Statement of Board’s Responsibilities and Approval 43 

Independent Auditor’s Report 44-45 

Board Members’ Report 46 

Statement of Financial Position 47 

Statement of Financial Performance 48 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 49 

Cash Flow Statement 50 

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts 51 

Accounting Policies 52-62 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements 63-71 

The following supplementary information does not form part of the annual financial  

statements and is unaudited:

Detailed Statement of Financial Performance 72-73 



43

The Board is required by the Sheriffs 
Act, No. 90 of 1986, to maintain 
adequate accounting records and is 
responsible for the content and integrity 
of the annual financial statements and 
related financial information included 
in this report. It is the responsibility of 
the Board to ensure that the annual 
financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the entity as at the 
end of the financial year and the results 
of its operations and cash flows for 
the period then ended. The external 
auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the annual 
financial statements and were given 
unrestricted access to all financial 
records and related data.

The annual financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with 
South African Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice 
(GRAP) including any interpretations, 
guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are 
based on appropriate accounting 
policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgements and estimates. 
The Board acknowledges that it is 
ultimately responsible for the system 
of internal financial control established 
by the entity and places considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment. To enable the 
Board to meet these responsibilities, 
the Board sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk 
of error or deficit in a cost-effective 
manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities 
within a clearly defined framework, 
effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties 
to ensure an acceptable level of 
risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the entity and all employees 
are required to maintain the highest 

Statement Of Board’s Responsibility And Approval

ethical standards in ensuring the 
entity’s business is conducted in 
a manner that in all reasonable 
circumstances is above reproach. The 
focus of risk management in the entity 
is on identifying, assessing, managing 
and monitoring all known forms of risk 
across the entity. While operating risk 
cannot be fully eliminated, the entity 
endeavours to minimise it by ensuring 
that appropriate infrastructure, 
controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The members are of the opinion, based 
on the information and explanations 
given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may 
be relied on for the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. However, 
any system of internal financial control 
can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or deficit.

The Board has reviewed the entity’s 
cash flow forecast for the year to 
28 February 2015 and, in the light of 
this review and the current financial 
position, it is satisfied that the entity has 
or has access to adequate resources to 
continue operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. The annual financial 
statements have been prepared on the 
basis of accounting policies applicable 
to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available 
to finance future operations and that 
the realisation of assets and settlement 
of liabilities, contingent obligations and 
commitments will occur in the ordinary 
course of business.

Although the Board is primarily 
responsible for the financial affairs of 
the entity, it is supported by the entity’s 
external auditors.

The external auditors are responsible 
for independently reviewing and 
reporting on the entity’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial 
statements have been examined by 
the entity’s external auditors and their 
report is presented on pages 44 to 45.

The annual financial statements set 
out on pages 46 to 73, which have 
been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the Board on 
11 June 2014 and were signed on its 
behalf by:

Mrs C Mabuza 
(Chairperson of the Board)

Mr A Mawela 
(Chairperson : Finance & HR Committee)

Mr B Luthuli 
(Acting Executive Manager)

SOUTH AFRICAN BOARD FOR SHERIFFS ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2014
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Introduction 

We have audited the financial statements of the South 
African Board for Sheriffs set out on pages 47 to 71, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
28 February 2014, the statement of financial performance, 
statement of changes in net assets, the cash flow statement 
and the statement of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the 
financial statements

The accounting authority  is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with the South African Standard of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) 
and the requirements of the Sheriffs Act, 1986 (Act No. 90 
of 1986) as amended, and for such internal controls as the 
accounting authority determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 
(Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the general notice issued in terms 
thereof and International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements, 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Minister of Justice 
and Correctional Services on the Financial Statements of 
the South African Board for Sheriffs

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.
 
Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the South African 
Board for Sheriffs as at 28 February 2014 and its financial 
performance and cash flows and statement of comparison 
of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended, 
in accordance with the SA Standard of GRAP and the 
requirements of the Sheriffs Act, 1986 (Act No. 90 of 1986) 
as amended.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to the matters listed below; our opinion is 
not modified in respect of these matters:

Public Finance Management Act 

The South African Board for Sheriffs is awaiting a decision 
from National Treasury on whether it should be subjected 
to requirements of the Public Finance Management Act 
(“PFMA”). The entity has therefore not been audited against 
the requirements of the PFMA, as the application is still under 
consideration by National Treasury. The entity has therefore 
maintained its financial year for this reporting period as the 
end of February in terms of the Sheriffs Act. The financial 
statements have disclosed this fact in note 24.

VAT on administration fee

We draw attention to note 27 which indicates that 
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administration fees have been charged by the South African 
Board for Sheriffs to the Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs without 
output VAT being declared even though the South African 
Board for Sheriffs is a VAT vendor. The entity is in the 
process of engaging with the South African Revenue Service 
(SARS) on the correctness of this treatment, the outcome of 
this and any potential adjustment to the financial statements 
is uncertain at the date of these financial statements. A 
provision has been created in the financial statements.

Additional Matters

Unaudited supplementary information 

The supplementary information set out on pages 72 to 
73 does not form part of the financial statements and is 
presented as additional information. We have not audited 
this schedule and, accordingly, We do not express an 
opinion thereon.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In accordance with the PAA and the General Notice issued 
in terms thereof, we report the following findings on the 
performance information against predetermined objectives, 
non-compliance with legislations as well as internal control. 
We performed tests to identify reportable findings as 
described under each subheading but not to gather evidence 
to express assurance on these matters. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives 

We did not audit performance against predetermined 
objectives, as the entity is not required to prepare a report 
on its performance against predetermined objectives. The 
entity does not fall within the ambit of the PFMA and the 
entity-specific legislation does not require reporting on 
performance against predetermined objectives. There are 
no matters to report, as the entity was dormant for the year 
under review.

Compliance with Legislations

As the South African Board for Sheriffs is awaiting a decision 
from National Treasury on whether it should be subjected 
to requirements of the Public Finance Management Act 
(“PFMA”). The entity has therefore not been audited against 
the requirements of the PFMA, however, the entity was 
audited against compliance with the internal Supply Chain 

Management Policy (Delegation of Authority) and cases of 
non-compliance were noted; these have been reported 
accordingly in the management letter.

Internal Control

We considered internal control relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements and compliance with laws and 
regulations. The matters reported below are limited to the 
significant deficiencies noted:

Financial reporting and performance 
management

Current systems of the entity are not entirely appropriate 
to facilitate preparation of regular, accurate and complete 
financial reports. However during the last quarter and going 
into the new financial year management has put in place new 
controls and processes to ensure that material errors and 
omissions are detected and corrected timeously.

Governance

The Board continues to make a progressive effort directed 
towards the establishment of mechanisms over ongoing 
monitoring and oversight to enable an assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting and 
compliance with laws and regulations. 

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Incorporated
Per; Natalie Arendse
Director
Registered auditor

Cape Town
13 June 2014

Independent Auditor’s Report continued

SOUTH AFRICAN BOARD FOR SHERIFFS ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2014



46

The Board members submit their report for the year ended 28 February 2014.

1. Review of activities: 
Main business and operations 

The entity is governed in terms of the Sheriffs Act, No.90 of 1986. The objectives of the Board are to maintain the esteem, 
enhance the status and improve the standard of training and functions performed by sheriffs who operate throughout South 
Africa.

2. Going concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

3. Events after the reporting period
The Board members are not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year that would 
materially impact on the financial position of the entity.

4. Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)
The South African Board for Sheriffs is still undertaking numerous remedial steps to seek clarity on the matter of the Board 
being a PFMA-scheduled entity. Two opinions, both from a financial and a legal aspect, in respect of the applicability of the 
PFMA to the Board have been obtained in the previous financial year. The Board has also further subsequently engaged with 
both National Treasury and the Department of Justice and Constitutional Development in this regard. Treasury remains the 
sole agency to determine who is listed as a PFMA entity in terms of the required legislation. We believe that resolution on this 
matter will be imminent as the Board will seek a final decision from National Treasury in this regard. 

5. Board members
The Board members during the year and to the date of this report are:

Board Members’ Report

NAME CHANGES 

HJ Choma Reappointed 1 March 2012 

N Nxumalo Reappointed 1 March 2012 

C Mabuza (Chairperson) Reappointed 1 March 2012 

TF Seboka Reappointed 1 March 2012 

P Roodt Reappointed 1 March 2012 

L Best Appointed 1 March 2012 

A Mawela Appointed 1 March 2012 

F Moeletsi  Appointed 1 March 2012 

H Ntsikeni  Appointed 1 March 2012 

H Mohamed Appointed 1 March 2012 

T Thembe Appointed 1 March 2012 
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Statement of financial position as at 28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Assets

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 7  2 609 507  2 810 970 
Loan from related party 9  9 118 345  4 644 373 
Cash and cash equivalents 8  168 304  7 415 994 

 11 896 156  14 871 337 

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 4  2 530 308  160 693 

Intangible assets                                                                        5  809 988  335 791 
 3 340 296  496 484 

Total Assets  15 236 452  15 367 821 

Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities 10  21 149  15 658 

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 11  1 628 803  2 392 048 
Provisions 12  2 249 339  2 255 155 
Total Liabilities  3 899 291  4 662 861 
Net Assets  11 337 161  10 704 960 

Accumulated Surplus  11 337 161  10 704 960 

Total Net Assets  11 337 161  10 704 960 
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Statement of financial performance for the period ended  
28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Revenue  4 398 784  5 330 564 

Other income  14 427 346  9 086 470 

Operating expenses  (18 437 668 )  (14 134 956 )

Operating surplus 15  388 462  282 078 

Investment revenue 17  200 898  488 771 

Finance costs  42 841  -   
Surplus for the year  632 201  770 849 

SOUTH AFRICAN BOARD FOR SHERIFFS ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2014



49

Statement of changes in net assets for the year ended  
28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Accumulated 
surplus

  Total net 
assets

Balance at 01 March 2012  9 934 111  9 934 111 

Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year  770 849  770 849 

Balance at 01 March 2013  10 704 960  10 704 960 

Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year  632 201  632 201 

Balance at 28 February 2014  11 337 161  11 337 161 
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts
Receipts from sheriffs and Fidelity Fund  77 806 830  88 577 877 
Payments
Payments to suppliers and Fidelity Fund  (77 672 255 )  (86 249 293 )

Net cash from operating activities 19  134 575  2 328 584 

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4  (2 549 114 )  (67 889 )
Proceeds on sale of Assets  16 826  5 100 
Purchase of intangible assets 5  (529 487 )  (309 136 )
Proceeds from loan from related party  (4 473 972 )  (4 224 447 )
Interest income  243 739  488 771 
Finance cost  (95 748 )  -   
Net cash flows from investing activities  (7 387 756 )  (4 107 601 )

Cash flows from financing activities

Finance lease obligations  17 263  22 105 
Payments made  (11 772 )  (6 447 )

10  5 491  15 658 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash  
equivalents  (7 247 690 )  (1 763 359 )

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
year  7 415 994  9 179 353 

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 8  168 304  7 415 994 
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Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the 
year ended 28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Approved      
budget

Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis

Difference 
between 

budget and 
actual

Note

Revenue

Levies received  5 242 099  4 398 783  (843 316 ) 26
Administrative fees  9 337 025  10 000 259  663 234 26
Investment income  439 677  243 740  (195 937 ) 26
SASSETA grants  2 197 119  3 614 821  1 417 702 26

Other income  461 817  812 266  350 449 26

Total revenue  17 677 737  19 069 869  1 392 132 26

Operating Expenses

Board and sub committees  1 346 846  2 141 637  794 791 26
Executive Manager's Office  1 261 000  426 049  (834 951 ) 26
Legal and Complaints Division  533 500  490 858  (42 642 ) 26
Formal Disciplinary Hearings  230 860  154 382  (76 478 ) 26
Finance, Administration and 
Compliance Division  737 200  906 455  169 255 26

Communication Activities  2 042 820  1 703 994  (338 826 ) 26
Training  2 585 119  2 565 540  (19 579 ) 26
General Operations  72 750  227 536  154 786 26
Contracts i.e Cleaning, Office 
Maintenance  152 528  193 759  41 231 26

Other General Office Expenditure  1 161 747  1 400 186  238 439 26
Personnel Expenditure  7 774 237  7 779 548  5 311 26
Staff Development  145 500  80 929  (64 571 ) 26
Contingency budget  201 599  366 795  165 196 26

Total expenses  18 245 706  18 437 668  191 962 26

Net Surplus  (567 969 )  632 201  1 200 170 26
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1. Presentation of Annual 
Financial Statements
The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.

These annual financial statements have been prepared on 
an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with 
historical cost convention unless specified otherwise. They 
are presented in South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have 
been consistently applied, are disclosed below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous 
period, except for the changes set out in note 2.

1.1 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND 
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In preparing the annual financial statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the annual financial statements 
and related disclosures. Use of available information and 
the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of 
estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 
estimates which may be material to the annual financial 
statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the 
surplus makes judgments as to whether there is observable 
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables is calculated on a 
portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for 
national and industry-specific economic conditions and 
other indicators present at the reporting date that correlate 
with defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are 
applied to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the 
estimated loss emergence period.

Accounting Policies

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values. 

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an 
estimate based on the information available. 

Effective interest rate

The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future 
cash flows.

Allowance for doubtful debts

On debtors, an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and 
deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. 
The impairment is measured as the difference between the 
debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate, 
computed at initial recognition.

1.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current 
assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use 
in the production or supply of goods or services, rental to 
others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to 
be used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service   
 potential associated with the item will flow to the entity;   
 and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 
at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the 
purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset 
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, 
its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire an item 
of property, plant and equipment, and costs incurred 
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credited against operating expenses in surplus or deficit.
Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and demand deposits and other short term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair 
value.

1.5 LEASES

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership.

Finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to 
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as 
a finance lease obligation.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance charge is allocated to each period during the 
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

Operating leases - lessor

Operating lease revenue is recognised as revenue on a 
straight line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease 
term on the same basis as the lease revenue.

The aggregate cost of incentives is recognised as a reduction 
of rental revenue over the lease term on a straight line basis.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a 
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight 
line basis.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in the statement 
of financial performance.

Operating leases lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 
on a straight line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the 
contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset or liability.

1.6 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable 
within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid 
vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary 
benefits such as medical care) are recognised in the period 
in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised 
as an expense as the employees render services that 
increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating 
absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments 
is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation to make such payments as a result 
of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans 
are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry managed (or state plans) 
retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined 
contribution plans where the entity’s obligation under 
the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan.

1.7 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past   
 event;

Accounting Policies (continued)
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subsequently to add to, replace part of or service it. If a 
replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognised.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their 
estimated residual value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:

Item Average useful life
Land & buildings 50 years
Burglar alarms     10 years
Computer equipment   4 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 years
Kitchen appliances 3 years
Office equipment 3 years

The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of 
each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting date. If 
the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change 
is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a 
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item 
is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in 
surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount 
of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the 
use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus 
or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference between the 

net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of 
the item.

Use of estimates and management judgment

In assessing the remaining useful lives and residual values 
of property, plant and equipment, management have made 
judgments based on historical evidence as well as the 
current condition of property, plant and equipment under its 
control.

1.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:

• is capable of being separated or divided from an entity   
 and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged,   
 either individually or together with a related contract,   
 assets or liability; or

• arises from contractual rights or other legal rights,   
 regardless whether those rights are transferable or   
 separate from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits  
 or service potential that are attributable to the asset will   
 flow to the entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured   
 reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.
An intangible asset acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost 
shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) is recognised 
when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will  
 be available for use or sale;

• there is an ability to use or sell it;

• it will generate probable future economic benefits or  
 service potential;

• there are available technical, financial and other resources  
 to complete the development and to use or sell the asset;
 and

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its   
 development can be measured reliably.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for 
intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, 
on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Initial recognition and measurement

Item Average useful life
Computer software 3 years
Copyrighted material 10 years
Electronic database 10 years

1.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification

The entity classifies financial assets and financial liabilities 
into the following categories:

• Loans and receivables; and
• Held to maturity.

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

The entity classifies financial instruments, or their component 
parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial 
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, 
except for equity investments for which a fair value is not 
determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified 
as available for sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method.

Impairment of financial assets

At each end of the reporting period the entity assesses 
all financial assets, other than those at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
has been impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and default of payments are all considered indicators of 
impairment.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an 
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised 
in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. When 
such assets are written off, the write off is made against 
the relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against operating 
expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair 
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method. 

Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts 
are recognised in surplus or deficit when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.

The allowance recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account, and the amount of the deficit is 
recognised in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. 
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off 
against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 

Accounting Policies (continued)
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• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying   
 economic benefits or service potential will be required to  
 settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, 
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is 
treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the 
reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the provision.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 28.

1.8 REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE 
TRANSACTIONS

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential during the reporting period when those inflows 
result in an increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives 
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of 
goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in 
exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction. An exchange 
transaction will be recognised as and when the Board 
receives a declaration from the sheriff.  

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant  
 risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial   
 involvement to the degree usually associated with   
 ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service   
 potential associated with the transaction will flow to the   
 entity; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the   
 transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering 
of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The 
outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all 
the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service   
 potential associated with the transaction will flow to the   
 entity;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
 date can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to  
 complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest, royalties and dividends

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets 
yielding interest, royalties and dividends is recognised when:

• It is probable that the economic benefits or service   
 potential associated with the transaction will flow to the   
 entity; and

• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.
 Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the   
 effective interest rate method.

Investment income will be recognised as and when the Fund 
becomes entitled to the income.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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Service fees included in the price of the product are 
recognised as revenue over the period during which the 
service is performed.

1.9 REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE 
TRANSACTIONS

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or 
service potential received and receivable by an entity, which 
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that 
specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset is required to be consumed by the 
recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service 
potential must be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or 
otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives 
and can exclude or otherwise regulate the access of others 
to that benefit.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, 
an entity either receives value from another entity without 
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, 
or gives value to another entity without directly receiving 
approximately equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit 
or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset may be 
used, but do not specify that future economic benefits or 
service potential is required to be returned to the transferor if 
not deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or 
regulations, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon the 
use of a transferred asset by entities external to the reporting 
entity.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to 
the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the 
same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as 
a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-
exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the 
carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an 
amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the 
amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity 
recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent to 
the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise a 
liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised, it will 
be measured as the best estimate of the amount required to 
settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount 
of the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. 
When a liability is subsequently reduced, because the 
taxable event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount 
of the reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.10 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified 
to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.11 IRREGULAR, FRUITLESS AND 
WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

Irregular expenditure, as defined in Section 1 of the Public 
Finance Management Act (PFMA), is expenditure, other than 
unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of, or 
that is not in accordance with:

a) a requirement of the PFMA (Act No. 29 of 1999); or

b) a requirement of the State Tender Board Act (Act No. 86 
of 1968), or any regulations made in terms of the Act; or

c) a requirement in any provincial legislation providing for 
procurement procedures in that provincial government.

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made 
in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 
been exercised.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. 
The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature 
of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently 
accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial 
performance.

1.12 BUDGET INFORMATION

The entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of 
appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), which 
is given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation 
or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by the entity shall provide 
information on whether resources were obtained and used in 
accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The annual financial statements and the budget are not on the 
same basis of accounting, therefore a reconciliation between 
the statement of financial performance and the budget have 
been included in the annual financial statements. Refer to 
note 26.

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 
POLICY
The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice on a basis consistent with the prior year 
except where new standards became available.

3. NEW STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS
3.1 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
EFFECTIVE IN THE CURRENT YEAR

In the current year, the following standards and interpretations 
are effective.

GRAP 104 Financial Instruments

The Standard prescribes recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure requirements for financial 
instruments. Financial instruments are defined as those 
contracts that result in a financial asset in one entity and a 

financial liability or residual interest in another entity. A key 
distinguishing factor between financial assets and financial 
liabilities and other assets and liabilities, is that they are 
settled in cash or by exchanging financial instruments rather 
than through the provision of goods or services.

One of the key considerations in initially recognising financial 
instruments is the distinction, by the issuers of those 
instruments, between financial assets, financial liabilities and 
residual interests. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are distinguished 
from residual interests because they involve a contractual 
right or obligation to receive or pay cash or another financial 
instrument. Residual interests entitle an entity to a portion 
of another entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation, and 
to dividends or similar distributions paid at management’s 
discretion.

In determining whether a financial instrument is a financial 
asset, a financial liability or a residual interest, an entity 
considers the substance of the contract and not just the 
legal form. 

Where a single instrument contains both a liability and 
a residual interest component, the issuer allocates the 
instrument into its component parts. The issuer recognises 
the liability component at its fair value and recognises the 
residual interest as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the instrument and the fair value of the liability 
component. No gain or loss is recognised by separating the 
instrument into its component parts.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised 
at fair value. Where an entity subsequently measures 
financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost or 
cost, transaction costs are included in the cost of the asset 
or liability.

The transaction price usually equals the fair value at initial 
recognition, except in certain circumstances, for example, 
where interest-free credit is granted or where credit is 
granted at a below market rate of interest.

Concessionary loans are loans either received by or granted 
to another entity on concessionary terms, for example, 
at low interest rates and flexible repayment terms. On 
initial recognition, the fair value of a concessionary loan is 
the present value of the agreed contractual cash flows, 
discounted using a market-related rate of interest for a similar 
transaction. The difference between the proceeds either 
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received or paid and the present value of the contractual 
cash flows is accounted for as non-exchange revenue 
by the recipient of a concessionary loan in accordance 
with Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-exchange 
Revenue Transactions (Taxes and Transfers), and using the 
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements (usually as an expense) by the grantor of the 
loan.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured either at fair value or amortised cost or cost. An 
entity measures a financial instrument at fair value if it is:

• a derivative;

• a combined instrument designated at fair value, i.e. an   
 instrument that includes a derivative and a non-  
 derivative host contract;

• held for trading;

• a non-derivative instrument with fixed or determinable 
 payments that is designated at initial recognition to be   
 measured at fair value;

• an investment in a residual interest for which fair value   
 can be measured reliably; and

• other instruments that do not meet the definition of   
 financial instruments at amortised cost or cost.

Derivatives are measured at fair value. Combined instruments 
that include a derivative and non-derivative host contract are 
accounted for as follows:

• Where an embedded derivative is included in a host   
 contract which is a financial instrument within the scope  
 of this standard, an entity can designate the entire   
 contract to be measured at fair value, or it can account for  
 the host contract and embedded derivative separately  
 using GRAP 104. An entity is, however, required to  
 measure the entire instrument at fair value if the fair value  
 of the derivative cannot be measured reliably.

• Where the host contract is not a financial instrument  
 within the scope of this standard, the host contract and  
 embedded derivative are accounted for separately using  
 GRAP 104 and the relevant standard of GRAP.

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are non-derivative 
instruments with fixed or determinable payments, for 
example, deposits with banks, receivables and payables, are 
measured at amortised cost. At initial recognition, an entity 
can, however, designate such an instrument to be measured 
at fair value.

An entity can only measure investments in residual interests 
at cost where the fair value of the interest cannot be 
determined reliably.

Once an entity has classified a financial asset or a financial 
liability either at fair value or amortised cost or cost, it is only 
allowed to reclassify such instruments in limited instances.

An entity derecognises a financial asset, or the specifically 
identified cash flows of an asset, when:

• the cash flows from the asset expire, are settled or  
 waived;

• significant risks and rewards are transferred to another   
 party; or

• despite having retained significant risks and rewards, an  
 entity has transferred control of the asset to another  
 entity.

An entity derecognises a financial liability when the obligation 
is extinguished. Exchanges of debt instruments between a 
borrower and a lender are treated as the extinguishment 
of an existing liability and the recognition of a new financial 
liability. Where an entity modifies the term of an existing 
financial liability, it is also treated as the extinguishment of an 
existing liability and the recognition of a new liability.

An entity cannot offset financial assets and financial liabilities 
in the statement of financial position unless a legal right of 
set-off exists, and the parties intend to settle on a net basis.
GRAP 104 requires extensive disclosures on the significance 
of financial instruments for an entity’s statement of financial 
position and statement of financial performance, as well as 
the nature and extent of the risks that an entity is exposed 
to as a result of its annual financial statements. Some 
disclosures, for example, the disclosure of fair values for 
instruments measured at amortised cost or cost and the 
preparation of a sensitivity analysis, are encouraged rather 
than required.

GRAP 104 does not prescribe principles for hedge 
accounting. An entity is permitted to apply hedge accounting, 
as long as the principles in IAS 39 are applied.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact 
on the entity’s annual financial statements.
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3.2 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
ISSUED, BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The entity has not applied the following Standards and 
interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the entity’s accounting periods beginning on 
or after 1 April 2014 or later periods.

GRAP 18 Segment Reporting

This Standard requires additional disclosures on the various 
segments of the business in a manner that is consistent with 
the information reported internally to the management of this 
entity. This Standard does not yet have an effective date.

GRAP 20 Related parties

The objective of this Standard is to ensure that a reporting 
entity’s financial statements contain the disclosures 
necessary to draw attention to the possibility that its financial 
position and surplus or deficit may have been affected by 
the existence of related parties and by transactions and 
outstanding balances with such parties.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements 
under the accrual basis of accounting (in thisSstandard 
referred to as the reporting entity) shall apply this Standard 
in:

• identifying related party relationships and transactions;

• identifying outstanding balances, including    
 commitments, between an entity and its related parties;

• identifying the circumstances in which disclosure of the  
 items in (a) and (b) is required; and

• determining the disclosures to be made about those  
 items.

This Standard requires disclosure of related party 
relationships, transactions and outstanding balances, 
including commitments, in the consolidated and separate 
financial statements of the reporting entity in accordance 
with the Standard of GRAP on Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements. This Standard also applies to individual 
financial statements.

Disclosure of related party transactions, outstanding 
balances, including commitments, and relationships with 
related parties may affect users’ assessments of the financial 
position and performance of the reporting entity and its 
ability to deliver agreed services, including assessments of 
the risks and opportunities facing the entity. This disclosure 
also ensures that the reporting entity is transparent about its 

dealings with related parties.

The Standard states that a related party is a person or an 
entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other 
party, or exercise significant influence over the other party, 
or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, 
or joint control. As a minimum, the following are regarded as 
related parties of the reporting entity:

• A person or a close member of that person’s family is   
 related to the reporting entity if that person;

• has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

• has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

• is a member of the management of the entity or its   
 controlling entity.

An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the 
following conditions apply:

• the entity is a member of the same economic entity   
 (which means that each controlling entity, controlled   
 entity and fellow controlled entity is related to the   
 others);

• one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other   
 entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of an  
 economic entity of which the other entity is a member);

• both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

• one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other  
 entity is an associate of the third entity;

• the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the   
 benefit of employees of either the entity or an entity   
 related to the entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a  
 plan, the sponsoring employers are related to the entity;

• the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person   
 identified in (a); and

• a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over   
 that entity or is a member of the management of that   
 entity (or its  controlling entity).

The Standard furthermore states that a related party 
transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations 
between the reporting entity and a related party, regardless 
of whether a price is charged.

The Standard elaborates on the definitions and identification 
of:
• Close member of the family of a person;
• Management;
• Related parties;
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• Remuneration; and
• Significant influence.

The Standard sets out the requirements, inter alia, for the 
disclosure of:

• Control;

• Related party transactions; and

• Remuneration of management.

The effective date of the Standard is for years beginning on 
or after 01 April 2013.

An entity shall apply Standards of GRAP for annual financial 
statements covering periods beginning on or after a date to 
be determined by the Minister of Finance in a regulation to be 
published in accordance with section 91(l)(b) of the PFMA.

GRAP 25 Employee benefits

The objective of GRAP 25 is to prescribe the accounting and 
disclosure for employee benefits. The Standard requires an 
entity to recognise:

• a liability when an employee has provided service in   
 exchange for employee benefits to be paid in the future;  
 and

• an expense when an entity consumes the economic   
 benefits or service potential arising from service provided 
 by an employee in exchange for employee benefits.

GRAP 25 must be applied by an employer in accounting 
for all employee benefits, except share based payment 
transactions.

GRAP 25 defines, amongst others, the following:

• Employee benefits as all forms of consideration given by  
 an entity in exchange for service rendered by    
 employees;

• Defined contribution plans as post-employment benefit  
 plans under which an entity pays fixed contributions into  
 a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or  
 constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the  
 fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee  
 benefits relating to employee service in the current and  
 prior periods;

• Defined benefit plans as post-employment benefit plans  
 other than defined contribution plans;

• Multi-employer plans as defined contribution plans (other  

 than state plans and composite social security   
 programs) or defined benefit plans (other than state   
 plans) that pool the assets contributed by various   
 entities that are not under common control and use   
 those assets to provide benefits to employees of more   
 than one entity, on the basis that contribution and   
 benefit levels are determined without regard to  
 the identity of the entity that employs the employees  
 concerned;

• Other long-term employee benefits as employee benefits  
 (other than post-employment benefits and termination  
 benefits) that is not due to be settled within twelve  
 months after the end of the period.  Post-employment  
 benefits as employee benefits (other than termination  
 benefits) which are payable after the completion of   
 employment;

• Post-employment benefit plans as formal or informal   
 arrangements under which an entity provides post-  
 employment benefits for one or more employees;

• Short-term employee benefits as employee benefits   
 (other than termination benefits) that are due to be   
 settled within twelve months after the end of the period   
 in which the employees render the related service;

• State plans as plans other than composite social   
 security programs established by legislation which   
 operate as if they are multi-employer plans for all entities  
 in economic categories laid down in legislation;

• Termination benefits as employee benefits payable as a   
 result of either:

• an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s   
 employment before the normal retirement date; or

• an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy  
 in exchange for those benefits; and

• Vested employee benefits, such as employee benefits,   
 that are not conditional on future employment.

The Standard states the recognition, measurement and 
disclosure requirements of: 

• Short-term employee benefits;

• All short-term employee benefits;

• Short-term compensated absences;

• Bonus, incentive and performance related payments;

• Post-employment benefits: Defined contribution plans;

• Other long-term employee benefits; and

• Termination benefits.
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The Standard states Post-employment benefits: 

• Distinction between defined contribution plans and   
 defined benefit plans;

• Multi-employer plans;

• Defined benefit plans where the participating entities are  
 under common control;

• State plans;

• Composite social security programs; and

• Insured benefits.

The Standard states, for Post-employment benefits: 
Defined benefit plans, the following requirements:

• Recognition and measurement;

• Presentation;

• Disclosure;

• Accounting for the constructive obligation;

• Statement of financial position;

• Asset recognition ceiling;

• Asset recognition ceiling: when a minimum funding   
 requirement may give rise to a liability; and

• Statement of financial performance.

The Standard prescribes recognition and measurement for:

• Present value of defined benefit obligations and current   
 service cost;

• Actuarial valuation method;

• Attributing benefits to periods of service;

• Actuarial assumptions;

• Actuarial assumptions: discount rate;

• Actuarial assumptions: salaries, benefits and medical   
 costs;

• Actuarial gains and losses;

• Past service cost;

• Plan assets;

• Fair value of plan assets;

• Reimbursements; and

• Return on plan assets.

The Standard also deals with entity combinations and 
curtailments and settlements. The effective date of the 
Standard is for years beginning on or after 01 April 2013.  It 
is unlikely that the Standard will have a material impact on 
the entity’s financial statements.

GRAP 105 Transfer of functions between entities 
under common control

The objective of this Standard is to establish accounting 
principles for the acquirer and transferor in a transfer of 
functions between entities under common control. No 
significant impact is expected as the entity does not 
participate in such business transactions.

GRAP 106 Transfer of functions between entities 
not under common control

The objective of this Standard is to establish accounting 
principles for the acquirer and transferor of functions 
between entities not under common control. No significant 
impact is expected as the entity does not participate in such 
business transactions.

GRAP 107 Mergers

The objective of this Standard is to establish accounting 
principles for the combined entity and combining entities in 
a merger.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

4. Property, plant and equipment
 2014 2013

 Cost 
Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Carrying 
value 

 Cost 
 Accumulated 
Depreciation 

 Carrying 
value 

Burglar alarms  2 700  (2 700 )  -    2 700  (2 700 )  -   
Computer equipment  635 515  (355 140 )  280 375  416 875  (292 676 )  124 199 
Furniture and fixtures  502 589  (315 732 )  186 857  293 999  (287 997 )  6 002 
Kitchen appliances  12 416  (6 170 )  6 246  8 766  (3 627 )  5 139 
Office equipment  149 330  (95 104 )  54 226  108 326  (82 973 )  25 353 
Land & Buildings  2 020 280  (17 676 )  2 002 604  -    -    -   
Total  3 322 830  (792 522 )  2 530 308  830 666  (669 973 )  160 693 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment   2014 

 Opening 
balance 

 Additions Disposals 
 Depreciation 

charge 

 Accumulated 
Depreciation 
on disposals 

 Closing 
Balance 

Burglar alarms  -    -    -    -    -   
Computer equipment  124 199  267 475  (48 836 )  (104 048 )  41 585  280 375 
Furniture and fixtures  6 002  210 534  (1 944 )  (29 678 )  1 943  186 857 
Kitchen appliances  5 139  3 650  -    (2 543 )  -    6 246 
Office equipment  25 353  47 175  (6 171 )  (18 301 )  6 170  54 226 
Land & Buildings  -    2 020 280  -    (17 676 )  -    2 002 604 

 160 693  2 549 114  (56 951 )  (172 246 )  49 698  2 530 308 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment   2013 

 Opening 
balance 

 Additions Disposals  Depreciation 
charge 

 Accumulated 
Depreciation 
on disposals 

 Closing 
Balance 

Burglar alarms  -    -    -    -    -   
Computer equipment  169 313  37 521  (78 311 )  (81 459 )  77 135  124 199 
Furniture and fixtures  33 377  3 004  -    (30 379 )  6 002 
Kitchen appliances  -    6 506  -    (1 367 )  5 139 
Office equipment  16 698  20 858  -    (12 203 )  25 353 

 219 388  67 889  (78 311 )  (125 408 )  77 135  160 693 

Land & Buildings

The Board have acquired a Building situated at 88 Loop Street, Cape Town.  The building was bought in the name of the 
SABFS as the Fidelity Fund are not a persona per the Act.

The building have been accounted for as follows:

Cost of Building  13 370 326 
less Portion Accounted for in the 
books of the Fidelity Fund

 
(12 127 897)

 1 242 429 
Additions as per Board Approval  777 851 
Net Total as per note 4 above  2 020 280 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

5. Intangible Assets

 2014 2013

Cost  Accumulated 
Amortisation 

Carrying 
value Cost Accumulated 

Amortisation 
Carrying 

value 

Computer software  281 792  (239 417 )  42 375  250 543  (206 749 )  43 794 
Publications  442 371  (13 000 )  429 371  261 250  -    261 250 
SharePoint Database  348 872  (10 630)  338 242  31 755  (1 008 )  30 747 
Total  1 073 035  (263 047 )  809 988  543 548  (207 757 )  335 791 

Reconciliation of intangible assets  2014 
 Opening 
balance 

 Additions Amortisation  Closing 
Balance 

Computer software  43 794  31 250  (32 668 )  42 376 
Publications  261 250  181 121  (13 000 )  429 371 
SharePoint Database  30 747  317 116  (9 622 )  338 241 

 335 791  529 487  (55 290 )  809 988 

Reconciliation of intangible assets   2013 
 Opening 
balance  Additions Amortisation  Closing 

Balance 

Computer software  51 207  16 131  (23 544 )  43 794 
Publications  -    261 250  -    261 250 
SharePoint Database  -    31 755  (1 008 )  30 747 

 51 207  309 136  (24 552 )  335 791 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
6. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables  2 609 507  2 810 970 
Cash and cash equivalents  168 304  7 415 994 

 2 777 811  10 226 964 

7. Trade and other receivables
Accrued income  2 310 556  2 287 987 
Provision for Bad Debts  (130 195)  -   
Other receivables  429 146  522 984 

 2 609 507  2 810 970 

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date

The ageing of accounts receivables are as follows:

30 days  695 569  353 750 
90 days plus  1 913 938  2 457 220 

 2 609 507  2 810 970 

8. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand  257  1 186 
Bank balances  115 895  329 007 
Short-term deposits  52 152  7 085 801 

 168 304  7 415 994 

9. Loan from related party
Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs – owing amount  9 118 345  4 644 373 

The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

10. Long term liabilities
Finance lease liabilities

Vodacom Laptops  15 658  22 105 
Addition : Apple Mac  17 263 
Less: Payments made  (11 772)  (6 447)

 21 149  15 658 

11. Trade and other payables

Refunds Due  -    13 381 
Accrued expenses  1 363 993  1 320 192 
Other payables  -    732 706 
Value Added Taxation  264 810  325 769 

 1 628 803  2 392 048 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
12. Provisions
Leave provision  116 448  122 264 
Value Added Taxation  2 132 891  2 132 891 

 2 249 339  2 255 155 

13. Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Financial liabilities by category

Trade and other payables  1 363 993  2 392 048 

14. Revenue
Levies received  4 398 784  5 330 564 
Administrative fees received           10 000 259  7 903 834 
Fines and penalties  408 300  89 282 
SASSETA grants  3 614 821  1 089 432 

Grant DOJ & CD  385 653  -   

Sale of assets  -    3 923 
 18 807 817  14 417 034 

The amounts included in revenue arising from exchange of goods or service are as follows:

Administrative fees received  10 000 259  7 903 834 
Sale of assets  -    3 923 

 10 000 259  7 907 757 

The amounts included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions are as follows:

Levies received  4 398 784  5 330 564 
Fines and penalties  408 300  89 282 
SASSETA grants  3 614 821  1 089 432 
Grant DOJ & CD  385 653  -   

 8 807 558  6 509 277 

15. Operating surplus
Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Lease rentals on operating lease  183 438  333 080 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  172 246  125 407 
Amortisation of intangible assets  55 290  24 552 
Auditor’s remuneration  82 850  191 703 
Consulting fees  969 978  611 774 
Employee costs  8 506 364  6 275 010 

16. Auditors remuneration
Audit Fees  82 850  139 523 

Other services  -    52 180 
 82 850  191 703 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand 2014 2013

17. Investment Revenue

Interest revenue

Short-term deposits  200 898  488 771 

18. Taxation

No provision has been made for 2014 taxation as the receipts and accruals to the entity are exempt from 
income tax in terms of section 10(1)cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act.

19. Cash generated from operations
Surplus before taxation  632 201  770 849 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation  172 246  125 407 
Amortisation  55 290  24 552 
Interest received  (243 739)  (488 771)
Gain on sale of Assets  (9 573)  (3 923)
Finance costs  95 748  -   
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables  201 463  (68 242)
Provisions  (5 816)  42 430 
Trade and other payables  (763 245)  1 926 282 

 134 575  2 328 584 

20. Commitments
Operating leases – as lessee (Office space, office equipment and telephone systems)

Minimum lease payments due
     -     within one year  269 243  230 304 
     -     in second to fifth year inclusive  1 022 891  690 912 
     -     later than five years  -    -   

 1 292 134  921 216 

21.  Related parties

Relationships
Common board members                 Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs

The Sheriffs Board was established under the Sheriff’s Act and the Fidelity Fund is managed by the Board 
on behalf of the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services. The Board enters into various transactions, on 
arm’s length with Fidelity Fund.  The Board and the Fund had common board members for the year. 

Related party balances

Loan account – Owing to related party

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs  9 118 345  4 644 373 

Related party transactions

Rent paid by related party

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs  -    193 261 

The lease agreement was entered into based on market related rentals with an escalation clause of  10% per year.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
Administration fees charged to related party

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs  10 000 259  7 903 834 

The Administrative fee is based on an agreement signed between the Board and the Fidelity fund.

22. Risk management

Financial risk management

The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages 
liquidity risk through an on-going review of future commitments.

Cash is managed prudently by keeping sufficient cash in bank accounts.  Cash is received from Sheriffs and the 
Fidelity Fund.  

Interest rate risk
The Board has interest-bearing assets and the income and operating cash flows are substantially dependent 
on the changes in the market interest rates.  The interest-bearing assets consist of short term investments with 
floating interest rate that expose the Board to cash flow interest rate risks.  The interest rate used is based on the 
Prime rate.

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents  and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash 
with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers 
on an on-going basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no 
independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial 
position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in 
accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. 

23. Going Concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 
concern.  This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of 
assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of 
business.

24. Events after the reporting date
The Board is not aware of any matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year which significantly 
affect the financial position of the Board or the result of operations.

25. Public Finance Management Act
The South African Board for Sheriffs has applied to the National Treasury for listing in the Public Finance Management 
Act (“PFMA”) schedules as required by S47(2) of the PFMA. The entity has therefore not been audited against 
the requirements of the PFMA, as the application is still under consideration by National Treasury. The entity has 
therefore maintained its financial year for this reporting period as the end of February in terms of the Sheriffs Act. 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

26. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget

Revenue
The over recovery of revenue by R1,423,231 representing 8.05% is attributed to the following:

Levies
The under recovery of levies of 15.49% is due to the nature of the revenue which relates to the revenue of Sheriffs.  
Sheriff's revenue have declined due to the drop in civil cases as reported by Stats SA for the period under review.

Administrative fee
The over recovery of 7.10% of this line item is directly linked to the increase in the percentage charged.  The 
rate was increased from 7.5% to 8.5% for the year under review.  The increase can also be attributed to the 
appointment of new sheriffs during December 2012.

Investment income
The under recovery of 44.56% on this line item is a direct result of the reduction in available cash in the Board due 
to the slow growth in the Fidelity Fund where monies was invested in longer term investments.  The monies due 
to the Board were only transferred after year end.

SASSETA grants
The over recovery of 64.53% on this line item is due to monies  previously received and now recognised as 
revenue as the conditions of the contracts was met by the Board.

Other income
The over recovery of 75.88% on this line item is due to two fines issued to two sheriffs and monies received from 
the Department of Justice and Constitutional Development for the demarcation project funded by the Department 
and the Board.

Operating expenses
Total expenses is over budget by R191,962 representing a 1.05% under recovery which is attributed to the 
following:

Board and sub committees

The over recovery of 59.01% on this line item is due to the number of meetings and other activities undertaken by 
the Board.  Roadshows were held with each of the board meetings during this year.  Visits to sheriffs offices was 
also undertaken.  More meetings than planned was held during the year under review.

Executive manager's office
The under recovery of this line item of 66.21% was due to the nature of the projects undertook during the year 
under review.  The projects were transferred to the Fidelity Fund as it was found to be relating to the Fund.

Legal and complaints division

The under recovery of the line item of 7.99% is due to the number of investigations performed during the year.  
Less investigations were performed due to the  resignation of key staff in that division.  

Formal Disciplinary hearings

The under recovery of  33.13% on this line item is directly related to the number of DC hearings held during the 
year under review.  The number of DC's were less than planned as most of the DC's are scheduled for the new 
financial year.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

26. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget (continued)

Finance, Administration and Compliance Division
The over recovery  of 22.59% on this line item is due to the overspend on SharePoint related expenditure which 
could not be capitalised.

Communication activities
The under recovery of 16.59% on this line item was due to the fact that certain activities planned for this year have 
not taken place, however, it has been scheduled for the next financial  year.

Training
The under recovery of 0.76% on this line is due to the manner in which we account for expenditure relating to 
training activities.  This line item is linked to external sources of revenue.

General operations
The over recovery of 212.76% on this line item relates to other capital expenditure.  The over recovery is due to 
depreciation not included in the budget.

Contracts
The over recovery of 27.03% on this line item is due to the annual increases and the relocation  of the Board to a 
new building.

Other general office expenditure
This over recovery of 20.52% on this line item  is due to the relocation to new offices as well as an once of payment 
to a previous service provider for early termination of a contract.  Printing and stationery also increased due to the 
relocation  of the offices.

Personnel expenditure
The over recovery of 0.69% in this line item is due to a combination  of salary savings and contract workers 
employed during the year under review. Several employees resigned and was not replaced immediately.  Contract 
workers were employed during the year to assist where the need was urgent.

Staff development
The under recovery of 44.38% in this line item was due to the amounts being provided for in the previous financial 
as the service provider then appointed could not render the training at the required price and a new service 
provider was appointed.

Contingency
The over recovery of 81.94% relates to less contingencies taking place during the year under review and a 
provision for bad debts provided for in the current year.
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Figures in Rand 2014 2013
27. Executive management and Board member's remuneration

The following persons are employed by the Board in their respective executive capacities during the financial 
year.

Executive Management remuneration

H Kagee                 Executive Manager  930 142  606 179 
BZ Luthuli               Finance, HR, IT and Acting Executive  Manager  515 452  511 187 
MB Maseko            Head of Inspectorate(resigned 31 May 2013)  193 845  429 919 
VP Nel                    Training and Communication Manager  494 394  446 759 
L Mtunzi                 General Manager Legal And Complains  563 323  383 333 
AC Simon                 General Manager Corporate and Financial Services  584 189  92 605 

 3 281 345  2 469 982 

Board Members emoluments(non-executive)

N. Nxumalo  51 241  63 543 
H.J. Choma  81 378  65 807 
C. Mabuza  57 242  113 351 
T.F. Seboka  102 866  77 853 
P. Roodt  97 233  90 507 

H. Mohamed  -    -   
L. Best  35 448  24 288 
H. Ntsikeni  47 581  56 180 
F.R. Moeletsi  59 690  57 061 
A. Mawela  73 523  81 694 
T. Tembe  77 287  54 536 

 683 489  684 820 

28. Contingencies

Value Added Taxation(VAT)

The South African Board for Sheriffs have submitted a Tax Ruling application to South African Revenue 
Services(SARS).  This application was to clear the position  of the SABFS and the Fidelity Fund.  It was clear 
from discussions and the submission that the two bodies are one and no VAT is chargeable by the SABFS to the 
Fidelity Fund on the Administrative fees charged.  The SABFS will, however in future  have to apply only a portion  
of the VAT percentage to its expenses.  This amount is still unclear and the current provision for the VAT on the 
administrative fees charged, will be left unchanged due to the uncertainty around the outcome of the application.  
The effect of the application will have the effect that the VAT liability of the SABFS and the Fidelity Fund increase 
as only a portion of the VAT percentage will be allowed to be claimed.  These calculations could not be quantified 
accurately, hence no further provision is made for additional VAT due to SARS.  No penalties and interest were 
calculated on these unknown amounts.

71

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

SOUTH AFRICAN BOARD FOR SHERIFFS ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2014



72

Detailed Statement of Financial Performance for the period ended 
28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Revenue

Levies received  4 398 784  5 330 564 
Administrative fees  10 000 259  7 903 834 
SASSETA grants  3 614 821  1 089 431 
Fines and penalties  408 300  89 282 
DOJ&CD  385 653  -   
Sales of promotional material  -    -   
Total revenue 14  18 807 817  14 413 111 

Other income
Investment income  200 898  488 771 
Profit on sale of Assets  9 573  3 923 
Interest Income  42 841  -   
Other Income  8 740  -  

Operating income  19 069 869  14 905 805 
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Detailed Statement of Financial Performance for the period ended 
28 February 2014 (continued)

Figures in Rand 2014 2013

Operating expenses
Accommodation  390 627  411 728 
Auditor’s remuneration  82 850  191 703 
Bad Debts  130 195  -   
Bank charges  31 505  22 824 
Catering expenses  148 262  81 383 
Cleaning  40 783  27 536 
Communication and public education  1 515 609  1 249 287 
Consulting fees  969 978  611 774 
Criminal and credit clearance  24 834  10 705 
DC & Inspections  49 000  80 821 
Depreciation  227 536  149 959 
Electricity and water  74 649  56 460 
Employee costs  8 506 364  6 275 010 
Finance Charges  95 748  -   
Fines and penalties  -    7 393 
Gifts  5 618  13 175 
Impairment of Assets  140 852 -
IT expenses  54 271  103 444 
Insurance  70 313  31 047 
Lease rentals on operating lease  183 438  333 080 
Legal fees  300 040  167 335 
Parking expenses  27 500  8 131 
Postage  156 627  126 944 
Printing and stationery  398 504  313 292 
Recruitment expenses  46 236  359 109 
Relocation Costs  -    23 515 
Repairs and maintenance  137 455  109 653 
Security  15 521  5 208 
Sheriffs appointment – PAC short listing  -    9 367 
Staff welfare  112 497  100 482 
Stakeholder interaction  -    43 318 
Subscriptions  40 044  35 112 
Telephone and fax  335 979  254 943 
Training  2 646 469  1 343 184 
Travel – local  1 478 364  1 578 034 

 18 437 668  14 134 956 

Surplus for the year  632 201  770 849 
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The Board is required by the Sheriffs 
Act, No. 90 of 1986, to maintain 
adequate accounting records and is 
responsible for the content and integrity 
of the annual financial statements and 
related financial information included 
in this report. It is the responsibility of 
the Board to ensure that the annual 
financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the entity as at the 
end of the financial year and the results 
of its operations and cash flows for 
the period then ended. The external 
auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the annual 
financial statements and were given 
unrestricted access to all financial 
records and related data.

The annual financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with 
South African Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice 
(GRAP) including any interpretations, 
guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are 
based on appropriate accounting 
policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgements and estimates. 
The Board acknowledges that it is 
ultimately responsible for the system 
of internal financial control established 
by the entity and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong 
control environment. To enable the 
Board to meet these responsibilities, 
the Board sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk 
of error or deficit in a cost-effective 
manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities 
within a clearly defined framework, 
effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties 
to ensure an acceptable level of 
risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the entity and all employees 
are required to maintain the highest 

Statement Of Board’s Responsibility And Approval

ethical standards in ensuring the 
entity’s business is conducted in 
a manner that in all reasonable 
circumstances is above reproach. The 
focus of risk management in the entity 
is on identifying, assessing, managing 
and monitoring all known forms of risk 
across the entity. While operating risk 
cannot be fully eliminated, the entity 
endeavours to minimise it by ensuring 
that appropriate infrastructure, 
controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The members are of the opinion, based 
on the information and explanations 
given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may 
be relied on for the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. However, 
any system of internal financial control 
can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or deficit.

The Board has reviewed the entity’s 
cash flow forecast for the year to 
28 February 2015 and, in the light of 
this review and the current financial 
position, it is satisfied that the entity has 
or has access to adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. The annual financial 
statements have been prepared on the 
basis of accounting policies applicable 
to a going concern. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available 
to finance future operations and that 
the realisation of assets and settlement 
of liabilities, contingent obligations and 
commitments will occur in the ordinary 
course of business.

Although the Board is primarily 
responsible for the financial affairs of 
the entity, it is supported by the entity’s 
external auditors.

The external auditors are responsible 
for independently reviewing and 
reporting on the entity’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial 
statements have been examined by 
the entity’s external auditors and their 
report is presented on pages 77 to 78.

The annual financial statements set 
out on pages 79 to 100, which have 
been prepared on the going-concern 
basis, were approved by the Board on 
11 June 2014 and were signed on its 
behalf by:

Mrs C Mabuza 
(Chairperson of the Board)

Mr A Mawela 
(Chairperson : Finance & HR Committee)

Mr B Luthuli 
(Acting Executive Manager)
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Introduction 

We have audited the financial statements of the Fidelity Fund 
for Sheriffs set out on pages 80 to 99 , which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 28 February 2014, the 
statement of financial performance, statement of changes 
in net assets, the cash flow statement and the statement 
of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year 
then ended, as well as the notes, comprising a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the 
financial statements

The accounting authority  is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with the South African Standard of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) 
and the requirements of the Sheriffs Act, 1986 (Act No. 90 
of 1986) as amended, and for such internal controls as the 
accounting authority determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 
(Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the general notice issued in terms 
thereof and International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements, 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Minister of Justice 
and Correctional Services on the Financial Statements  
of the Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.
 
Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Fidelity Fund for 
Sheriffs as at 28 February 2014 and its financial performance 
and cash flows and statement of comparison of budget and 
actual amounts for the year then ended, in accordance 
with the SA Standard of GRAP and the requirements of the 
Sheriffs Act, 1986 (Act No. 90 of 1986) as amended.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to the matters listed below; our opinion is 
not modified in respect of these matters:

Public Finance Management Act

The Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs is awaiting a decision from 
National Treasury on whether it should be subjected to 
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act 
(“PFMA”). The fund has therefore not been audited against 
the requirements of the PFMA, as the application is still under 
consideration by National Treasury. The fund has therefore 
maintained its financial year for this reporting period as the 
end of February in terms of the Sheriffs Act. The financial 
statements have disclosed this fact in note 20.

VAT on administration fee

We draw attention to note 22 which indicates that 
administration fees have been charged by the South African 
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Board for Sheriffs to the Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs without 
output VAT being declared even though the South African 
Board for Sheriffs is a VAT vendor. The fund is in the process 
of engaging with the South African Revenue Service (SARS) 
on the correctness of this treatment, the outcome of this 
and any potential adjustment to the financial statements 
is uncertain at the date of these financial statements.  
A provision has been created in the financial statements.

Additional Matters

Unaudited supplementary information 

The supplementary information set out on pages 100 does 
not form part of the financial statements and is presented as 
additional information. We have not audited this schedule 
and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion thereon. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND  
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In accordance with the PAA and the General Notice issued 
in terms thereof, we report the following findings on the 
performance information against predetermined objectives, 
non-compliance with legislations as well as internal control. 
We performed tests to identify reportable findings as 
described under each subheading but not to gather evidence 
to express assurance on these matters. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives 

We did not audit performance against predetermined 
objectives, as the fund is not required to prepare a report 
on its performance against predetermined objectives. 
The fund does not fall within the ambit of the PFMA and 
the fund-specific legislation does not require reporting on 
performance against predetermined objectives. There are 
no matters to report, as the fund was dormant for the year 
under review.

Compliance with Legislations

As the Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs is awaiting a decision 
from National Treasury on whether it should be subjected 
to requirements of the Public Finance Management Act 
(“PFMA”). The fund has therefore not been audited against 
the requirements of the PFMA, however, the fund was 
audited against compliance with the internal Supply Chain 
Management Policy (Delegation of Authority) and cases of 
non-compliance were noted; these have been reported 
accordingly in the management letter.

Internal Control

We considered internal control relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements and compliance with laws and 
regulations. The matters reported below are limited to the 
significant deficiencies noted:

Financial reporting and performance 
management

Current systems of the entity are not entirely appropriate 
to facilitate preparation of regular, accurate and complete 
financial reports. However during the last quarter and going 
into the new financial year management has put in place new 
controls and processes to ensure that material errors and 
omissions are detected and corrected timeously.

Governance

The Board continues to make a progressive effort directed 
towards the establishment of mechanisms over ongoing 
monitoring and oversight to enable an assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting and 
compliance with laws and regulations. 

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Incorporated
Per; Natalie Arendse
Director
Registered auditor

Cape Town
13 June 2014

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
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The Board members submit their report for the year ended 28 February 2014.

1. Review of activities: 
Main business and operations 

The Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs (the Fund) is engaged and governed in terms of the Sheriff’s Act, No.90 of 1986. The Fund 
is controlled and managed by the South African Board for Sheriffs (the Board), which shall utilise the money in the Fund in 
accordance with the Sheriffs Act, No. 90 of 1986.

The operating results and state of affairs of the entity are fully set out in the attached annual financial statements and do not, 
in our opinion, require any further comment.

2. Going concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

3. Events after the reporting period
The Board members are not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year that would 
materially impact on the financial position of the entity.

4. Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)
The Board is still undertaking numerous remedial steps to seek clarity on the matter of the Board being a PFMA-scheduled 
entity. Two opinions, both from a financial and a legal aspect, in respect of the applicability of the PFMA to the Board have 
been obtained in the previous financial year. It has also further subsequently engaged with both National Treasury and the 
Department of Justice and Constitutional Development in this regard. Treasury remains the sole agency to determine who is 
listed as a PFMA entity in terms of the required legislation. We believe that resolution on this matter will be imminent as the 
Board will seek a final decision from National Treasury in this regard. 

5. Board members
The Board members during the year and to the date of this report are:

Board Members’ Report

NAME CHANGES 

HJ Choma Reappointed 1 March 2012 

N Nxumalo Reappointed 1 March 2012 

C Mabuza (Chairperson) Reappointed 1 March 2012 

TF Seboka Reappointed 1 March 2012 

P Roodt Reappointed 1 March 2012 

L Best Appointed 1 March 2012 

A Mawela Appointed 1 March 2012 

F Moeletsi  Appointed 1 March 2012 

H Ntsikeni  Appointed 1 March 2012 

H Mohamed Appointed 1 March 2012 

T Thembe Appointed 1 March 2012 
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Statement of financial position as at 28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Assets

Current Assets

Investments held for sale 5  634 796  1 810 259 
Trade and other receivables 7  323 807  630 334 
Cash and cash equivalents 8  30 154 164  49 669 087 

 31 112 767  52 109 680 

Non-Current Assets

Asset Held for sale - Property 4  -    3 475 129 
Investment in Property 4  12 020 520  -   
Investments held to maturity 8  74 751 995  55 613 476 
Total Assets  117 885 282  111 198 285 

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 10  5 750 198  8 233 554 

Loan from related party 9  9 118 345  4 644 374 

Provisions 12  2 547 087  6 056 558 
Total Liabilities  17 415 630  18 934 486 
Net Assets  100 469 652  92 263 799 

Net Assets

Accumulated Surplus  100 469 652  92 263 799 

Total Net Assets  100 469 652  92 263 799 
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Statement of financial performance for the period ended  
28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Revenue 13  16 262 652  13 192 159 

Other income  20 509  161 916 

Operating expenses  (13 895 292)  (14 050 584)

Operating surplus 14  2 387 869  (696 509)

Investment revenue  5 773 105  5 277 661 

Fair value adjustments  44 879  598 595 

Surplus for the year  8 205 853  5 179 747 
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Statement of changes in net assets for the year ended  
28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Accumulated 
surplus

  Total net 
assets

Balance at 01 March 2012  87 084 052  87 084 052 

Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year  5 179 747  5 179 747 

Balance at 01 March 2013  92 263 799  92 263 799 

Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year  8 205 853  8 205 853 

Balance at 28 February 2014  100 469 652  100 469 652 
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts

Receipts from sheriffs and SABFS  21 815 544  28 630 632 

Less: cash payments to suppliers and SABFS  (24 551 978)  (24 157 576)

Net cash from operating activities 16  (2 736 434)  4 473 056 

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest income  5 773 105  5 277 661 
Movement in Investment held to maturity  (19 138 519)  (55 613 476)
Movement in financial assets  1 240 851  9 851 579 
Net movement in Investment in Property  (9 127 897)
Proceeds from loan from related party  4 473 971  4 224 447 
Net cash flows from investing activities  (16 778 489)  (36 259 789)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (19 514 923)  (31 786 733)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
year  49 669 087  81 455 820 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8  30 154 164  49 669 087 
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Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the 
year ended 28 February 2014

Figures in Rand Approved      
budget

Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis

Difference 
between 

budget and 
actual

Note

Revenue

Fidelity Fund certificates  516 496  374 095  (142 401) 21
Rental income  -    -    -   21
Interest income- Trust Account  11 010 977  13 397 129  2 386 152 21
Interest income- Investment  5 317 897  5 773 105  455 208 21
Dividend income  -    20 509  20 509 21
Fair value adjustments  -    44 879  44 879 21
Claims : Insurance Policy  -    2 491 428  2 491 428 21

Total revenue  16 845 370  22 101 145  5 255 775 21

Operating Expenses

Administration fees  9 337 025  10 000 259  (663 234) 21
Audit fees  48 950  48 000  950 21
Bad Debts  -    78 318  (78 318) 21
Bank Charges  3 824  72 259  (68 435) 21
Building maintenance  50 000  -    50 000 21
Claims against the Fidelity Fund  1 500 000  525 928  974 072 21
Consulting fees  750 000  751 055  (1 055) 21
Depreciation  -    183 893  (183 893) 21
Finance charges  -    9  (9) 21
Insurances  980 000  919 058  60 942 21
Legal fees  400 000  700 308  (300 308) 21
Levies  99 400  109 965  (10 565) 21
Loss on sale of building  -    398 614  (398 614)
Utilities  200 000  107 626  92 374 21

Total expenses  13 369 199  13 895 292  (526 093) 21

Net Surplus  3 476 171  8 205 853  (4 729 682) 21
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Accounting Policies

1. Presentation of Annual 
Financial Statements
The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any 
interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board.  These annual financial 
statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of 
accounting and are in accordance with historical cost 
convention unless specified otherwise. They are presented 
in South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have 
been consistently applied, are disclosed below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous 
period, except for the changes set out in note 2.

1.1 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND 
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In preparing the annual financial statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the annual financial statements 
and related disclosures. Use of available information and 
the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of 
estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 
estimates which may be material to the annual financial 
statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. In determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the 
entity makes judgements as to whether there is observable 
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables is calculated on a 
portfolio basis, based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for 
national and industry specific economic conditions and other 
indicators present at the reporting date that correlate with 
defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios are applied 
to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled to the estimated 
loss emergence period.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 

receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values. 

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an 
estimate based on the information available. Additional 
disclosures of these estimates of provisions are included in 
note 12.

Effective interest rate

The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future 
cash flows.

Allowance for doubtful debts

On debtors an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and 
deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. 
The impairment is measured as the difference between the 
debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate, 
computed at initial recognition.

1.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current 
assets that are held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative 
purposes, and are expected to be used during more than 
one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits or service   
 potential associated with the item will flow to the entity;   
 and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 
at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the 
purchase price and other costs attributable to bring the asset 
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, 
its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire an item 
of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a 
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replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognised.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
have been assessed as follows:

Item Average useful life

Buildings 50 years

The residual value, the useful life and depreciation method of 
each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting date. If 
the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change 
is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a 
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item 
is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in 
surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount 
of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the 
use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus 
or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss 
arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of 
the item.

1.3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification

The entity classifies financial assets and financial liabilities 
into the following categories:

• Loans and receivables; 

• Held to maturity.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

The entity classifies financial instruments, or their component 
parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial 
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, 
except for equity investments for which a fair value is not 
determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified 
as available for sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method.

Impairment of financial assets

At each end of the reporting period the entity assesses 
all financial assets, other than those at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
has been impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and default of payments are all considered indicators of 
impairment.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an 
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised 
in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. When 
such assets are written off, the write off is made against 
the relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against operating 
expenses.
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Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair 
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts 
are recognised in surplus or deficit when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired.
The allowance recognised is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account, and the amount of the deficit is 
recognised in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. 
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off 
against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against operating expenses in surplus or deficit.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits and other short term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are 
initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.4 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying   
 economic benefits or service potential will be required to  
 settle the obligation;  and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, 
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if 
the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is 
treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the 
reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the provision.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 22.

1.5 REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE 
TRANSACTIONS

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential during the reporting period when those inflows 
result in an increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives 
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form 
of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in 
exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  An exchange 
transaction will be recognised as and when the Fund 
receives a declaration from the sheriffs.  

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant  
 risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial   
 involvement to the degree usually associated with   
 ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
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• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service   
 potential associated with the transaction will flow to the   
 entity; and

• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the   
 transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering 
of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The 
outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all 
the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service   
 potential associated with the transaction will flow to the   
 entity;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting 
 date can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to   
 complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets 
yielding interest, royalties and dividends is recognised 
when:

• It is probable that the economic benefits or service   
 potential associated with the transaction will flow to the   
 entity, and

• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective 
interest rate method.  Interest as revenue will be recognised 
when a declaration is received from a sheriff along with an 
auditor’s report.

Investment income will be recognised as and when the Fund 
becomes entitled to the income.

Fidelity fund applications will be recognised when the 
certificate is issued.

1.6 REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE 
TRANSACTIONS

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or 
service potential received and receivable by an entity, which 
represents an increase in net assets, other than increases 
relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that 
specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset is required to be consumed by the 
recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service 
potential must be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or 
otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives 
and can exclude or otherwise regulate the access of others 
to that benefit.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, 
an entity either receives value from another entity without 
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, 
or gives value to another entity without directly receiving 
approximately equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit 
or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset may be 
used, but do not specify that future economic benefits or 
service potential is required to be returned to the transferor if 
not deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or 
regulations, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon the 
use of a transferred asset by entities external to the reporting 
entity.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to 
the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the 
same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as 
a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-
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exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the 
carrying amount of the liability recognised and recognises an 
amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at 
the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the 
entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity 
recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent to 
the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise a 
liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised it will 
be measured as the best estimate of the amount required 
to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount 
of the increase in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. 
When a liability is subsequently reduced, because the 
taxable event occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount 
of the reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.7 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified 
to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.8 BUDGET INFORMATION

The entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the form 
of appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), 
which is given effect through authorising legislation, 
appropriation or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by entity shall provide 
information on whether resources were obtained and used 
in accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The annual financial statements and the budget are on the 
same basis of accounting.  A reconciliation between the 
statement of financial performance and the budget have 
been included in the annual financial statements. Refer to 
note 21.

2. Changes in accounting policy
The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice on a basis consistent with the prior 
year.

3. New standards and 
interpretations
3.1 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
EFFECTIVE AND ADOPTED IN THE CURRENT 
YEAR

In the current year, the following standards and interpretations 
were effective.

GRAP 104: Financial Instruments

The standard prescribes recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure requirements for financial 
instruments. Financial instruments are defined as those 
contracts that result in a financial asset in one entity and a 
financial liability or residual interest in another entity. A key 
distinguishing factor between financial assets and financial 
liabilities and other assets and liabilities, is that they are 
settled in cash or by exchanging financial instruments rather 
than through the provision of goods or services.

One of the key considerations in initially recognising financial 
instruments is the distinction, by the issuers of those 
instruments, between financial assets, financial liabilities and 
residual interests. Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
distinguished from residual interests because they involve 
a contractual right or obligation to receive or pay cash or 
another financial instrument. Residual interests entitle an 
entity to a portion of another entity’s net assets in the event 
of liquidation and, to dividends or similar distributions paid at 
management’s discretion.

In determining whether a financial instrument is a financial 
asset, financial liability or a residual interest, an entity 
considers the substance of the contract and not just the 
legal form. 
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Where a single instrument contains both a liability and 
a residual interest component, the issuer allocates the 
instrument into its component parts. The issuer recognises 
the liability component at its fair value and recognises the 
residual interest as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the instrument and the fair value of the liability 
component. No gain or loss is recognised by separating the 
instrument into its component parts.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised 
at fair value. Where an entity subsequently measures 
financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost or 
cost, transactions’ costs are included in the cost of the asset 
or liability. The transaction price usually equals the fair value 
at initial recognition, except in certain circumstances, for 
example, where interest free credit is granted or where credit 
is granted at a below market rate of interest.  Concessionary 
loans are loans either received by or granted to another 
entity on concessionary terms, e.g. at low interest rates and 
flexible repayment terms. On initial recognition, the fair value 
of a concessionary loan is the present value of the agreed 
contractual cash flows, discounted using a market related 
rate of interest for a similar transaction. The difference 
between the proceeds either received or paid and the present 
value of the contractual cash flows is accounted for as non- 
exchange revenue by the recipient of a concessionary loan in 
accordance with Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Non-
exchange Revenue Transactions (Taxes and Transfers), and 
using the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of 
Financial Statements (usually as an expense) by the grantor 
of the loan.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured either at fair value or, amortised cost or cost. An 
entity measures a financial instrument at fair value if it is:

• a derivative;

• a combined instrument designated at fair value, i.e. an  
 instrument that includes a derivative and a non-  
 derivative host contract;

• held for trading;

• a non-derivative instrument with fixed or determinable   
 payments that is designated at initial recognition to be   
 measured at fair value;

• an investment in a residual interest for which fair value   
 can be measured reliably; and

• other instruments that do not meet the definition of   
 financial instruments at amortised cost or cost.

Derivatives are measured at fair value. Combined instruments 
that include a derivative and non-derivative host contract are 
accounted for as follows:

• Where an embedded derivative is included in a host  
 contract which is a financial instrument within the scope  
 of this Standard, an entity can designate the entire   
 contract to be measured at fair value or, it can account   
 for the host contract and embedded derivative  
 separately using GRAP 104. An entity is however  
 required to measure the entire instrument at fair value if  
 the fair value of the derivative cannot be measured  
 reliably. 

• Where the host contract is not a financial instrument  
 within the scope of this Standard, the host contract and  
 embedded derivative are accounted for separately using  
 GRAP 104 and the relevant Standard of GRAP.     
 Financial assets and financial liabilities that are non- 
 derivative instruments with fixed or determinable  
 payments, for example deposits with banks, receivables  
 and payables, are measured at amortised cost. At initial  
 recognition, an entity can however designate such an  
 instrument to be measured at fair value.

An entity can only measure investments in residual interests 
at cost where the fair value of the interest cannot be 
determined reliably.

Once an entity has classified a financial asset or a financial 
liability either at fair value or amortised cost or cost, it is only 
allowed to reclassify such instruments in limited instances.

An entity derecognises a financial asset, or the specifically 
identified cash flows of an asset, when:

• the cash flows from the asset expire, are settled or  
 waived;

• significant risks and rewards are transferred to another  
 party; or

• despite having retained significant risks and rewards, an  
 entity has transferred control of the asset to another  
 entity.

An entity derecognises a financial liability when the obligation 
is extinguished. Exchanges of debt instruments between a 
borrower and a lender are treated as the extinguishment 
of an existing liability and the recognition of a new financial 
liability. Where an entity modifies the term of an existing 
financial liability, it is also treated as the extinguishment of an 
existing liability and the recognition of a new liability.
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An entity cannot offset financial assets and financial liabilities 
in the statement of financial position unless a legal right of 
set off exists, and the parties intend to settle on a net basis.

GRAP 104 requires extensive disclosures on the significance 
of financial instruments for an entity’s statement of financial 
position and statement of financial performance, as well as 
the nature and extent of the risks that an entity is exposed 
to as a result of its annual financial statements. Some 
disclosures, for example the disclosure of fair values for 
instruments measured at amortised cost or cost and the 
preparation of a sensitivity analysis, are encouraged rather 
than required.

GRAP 104 does not prescribe principles for hedge 
accounting. An entity is permitted to apply hedge accounting, 
as long as the principles in IAS 39 are applied.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact 
on the entity’s annual financial statements.

3.2 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
ISSUED, BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The entity has not applied the following standards and 
interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the entity’s accounting periods beginning on 
or after 01 April 2013 or later periods:

GRAP 18 Segment Reporting

This Standard requires additional disclosures on the various 
segments of the business in a manner that is consistent with 
the information reported internally to the management of this 
entity. This standard does not yet have an effective date.

GRAP 20: Related parties

The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting 
entity’s financial statements contain the disclosures 
necessary to draw attention to the possibility that its financial 
position and surplus or deficit may have been affected by 
the existence of related parties and by transactions and 
outstanding balances with such parties.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements 
under the accrual basis of accounting (in this standard 
referred to as the reporting entity) shall apply this standard in:

• identifying related party relationships and transactions;

• identifying outstanding balances, including  
 commitments, between an entity and its related parties;

• identifying the circumstances in which disclosure of the  
 items in (a) and (b) is required; and

• determining the disclosures to be made about those  
 items.

This standard requires disclosure of related party 
relationships, transactions and outstanding balances, 
including commitments, in the consolidated and separate 
financial statements of the reporting entity in accordance 
with the Standard of GRAP on Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements. This standard also applies to individual 
financial statements.

Disclosure of related party transactions, outstanding 
balances, including commitments, and relationships with 
related parties may affect users’ assessments of the financial 
position and performance of the reporting entity and its 
ability to deliver agreed services, including assessments of 
the risks and opportunities facing the entity. This disclosure 
also ensures that the reporting entity is transparent about its 
dealings with related parties.

The standard states that a related party is a person or an 
entity with the ability to control or jointly control the other 
party, or exercise significant influence over the other party, 
or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to common control, 
or joint control. As a minimum, the following are regarded as 
related parties of the reporting entity:

• A person or a close member of that person’s family is  
 related to the reporting entity if that person:

• has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

• has significant influence over the reporting entity;

• is a member of the management of the entity or its  
 controlling entity.

An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the 
following conditions apply:

• the entity is a member of the same economic entity  
 (which means that each controlling entity, controlled  
 entity and fellow controlled entity is related to the  
 others);

• one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other   
 entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of an  
 economic entity of which the other entity is a member);
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• both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

• one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other  
 entity is an associate of the third entity;

• the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the   
 benefit of employees of either the entity or an entity   
 related to the entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a  
 plan, the sponsoring employers are related to the entity;

• the entity is controlled or jointly controlled    by a person  
 identified in (a); and

• a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over  
 that entity or is a member of the management of that  
 entity (or its controlling entity).

The standard furthermore states that a related party 
transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations 
between the reporting entity and a related party, regardless 
of whether a price is charged.

The standard elaborates on the definitions and identification 
of:

• Close member of the family of a person,-

• Management;

• Related parties;

• Remuneration; and

• Significant influence.

The standard sets out the requirements, inter alia, for the 
disclosure of:

• Control;

• Related party transactions; and

• Remuneration of management.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on 
or after 01 April 2013.

An entity shall apply Standards of GRAP for annual financial 
statements covering periods beginning on or after a date to 
be determined by the Minister of Finance in a regulation to 
be published in accordance with section 91(l)(b) of the PFMA
GRAP 105 Transfer of functions between entities under 
common control.

The objective of this Standard is to establish accounting 
principles for the acquirer and transferor in a transfer of 
functions between entities under common control. No 
significant impact is expected as the entity does not 
participate in such business transactions.

GRAP 106 Transfer of functions between entities 
not under common control.

The objective of this Standard is to establish accounting 
principles for the acquirer and transferor of functions 
between entities not under common control. No significant 
impact is expected as the entity does not participate in such 
business transactions.

GRAP 107 Mergers

The objective of this Standard is to establish accounting 
principles for the combined entity and applied.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

4. Property, plant and equipment
2014 2013

Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Carrying 
value

Investment in Building 12 127 897  (107 377)  12 020 520  3 825 831  (350 702)  3 475 129 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment –                                                     2014

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals
Depreciation 

charge

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
on disposals

Closing 
Balance

Building  3 475 129  12 127 897  (3 825 831)  (183 893)  427 218  12 020 520 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment –                                                     2013

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
on disposals

Closing 
Balance

Building  3 551 646  -    -    (76 517)  -    3 475 129 

Details of property            2014           2013

The property is situated at 88 Loop Street, Cape Town.

The property is situated at 88 Loop Street Cape Town

-Purchase price:  13 370 326  -   
-South African Board for Sheriffs  (1 242 429)  -   

 12 127 897  -   

The property is situated at 4 Church Square 5th Floor, Corner Spin and Parliament streets, Cape Town.

The property is a sectional title property and  the 5th floor is owned.

-Purchase price:  -    2 900 000 
-Additions  -    925 831 

 -    3 825  831 

The Investment in Building represent the 10% of the value of the Fidelity Funds assets at the date of purchase of the 
Building at 88 Loop Street, Cape Town at the 31 July 2013.
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Figures in Rand 2014 2013
5. Other financial assets 

At Fair value

Sanlam

The investment comprises a portfolio of listed shares  -    1 251 176 

Investec asset management  -    -   
The investment comprise of unit trusts.

 -    1 251 176 

At amortised cost

Liberty Life  634 796  559 083 

 634 796  1 810 259 

The insurance policies relate to life policies taken out by the entity on former board members.

The insurance policies have been measured at surrender value.  The Board have made a decision to 
surrender the policy and the policy was paid out on the 19 March 2014.

6. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables  323 807  630 334 
Investments held to maturity  74 751 995  55 613 476 
Cash and cash equivalents  30 154 164  49 669 087 

 105 229 966  105 912 897 

7. Trade and other receivables

Trade Receivables  187 532  -   
Provision for bad debts  (78 318)
Accrued income  214 593  630 334 

 323 807  630 334 

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date

The ageing of accounts receivables are as follows:

90 days plus  323 807  630 334 

8. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances  30 154 164  49 669 087 

Investments held to maturity  74 751 995  55 613 476 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Figures in Rand 2014 2013
9. Loan to related party

South African Board for Sheriffs – owed amount  9 118 345  4 644 374 

The loan is unsecured interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

10. Trade and other payables

Accrued expenses  1 559 867  1 718 126 
Income received in advance  -    1 419 298 
Sundry Creditors  132 997  1 158 
Trust liabilities  3 229 713  5 094 972 
SARS - VAT  827 621  -   

 5 750 198  8 233 554 

11. Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Financial liabilities by category

Trade and other payables  1 692 864  3 138 582 

12. Provisions

Provision for uninsured claims  2 547 087  6 056 558 

13. Revenue

Rental received  -    193 261 
Fidelity fund certificates  374 095  501 050 
Interest on Sheriiffs trust accounts  13 397 129  12 497 848 

Proceeds from Insurance Claims  2 491 428  -   
 16 262 652  13 192 159 

The amounts included in revenue arising from exchange of goods or service are as follows:

Rental received  -    193 261 
Fidelity fund certificates  374 095  501 050 

 374 095  694 311 

The amounts included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions are as follows:

Interest on Sheriiffs trust accounts  13 397 129  12 497 847 

14. Operating surplus
Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  183 893  76 517 
Auditor’s remuneration  48 000  -   
Dividend income  20 509  161 916 
Fair value adjustments  44 879  598 595 

Loss on sale of Assets  398 614  -   
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Figures in Rand 2014 2013
15. Taxation

No provision has been made for 2014 taxation as the receipts and accruals to the entity are exempt from 
income tax in terms of section 10(1)cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act.

16. Cash generated from operations

Surplus before taxation  8 205 853  5 179 747 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation  183 893  76 517 
Dividend income  (20 509)  (161 916)

Fair value adjustments  (44 879)  (598 595)
Interest income  (5 773 105)  (5 277 661)

Loss on sale of Assets  398 614  -   
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables  306 527  (31 246)

Provisions  (3 509 471)  2 211 100 
Trade and other payables  (2 483 356)  3 075 109 

 (2 736 434)  4 473 055 

17.  Related parties
Relationships
Common board members

The Sheriffs Board was established under the Sheriff’s Act and the Fidelity Fund is managed by the Board on 
behalf of the Minister of Justice.  The Board enters into various transactions, on arm’s length with the Fidelity 
Fund.  The Board and the Fund had common board members for the year. 

Related party balances

Loan account – Owing to related party

South African Board for Sheriffs  9 118 345  4 644 374 

Related party transactions

Rent paid by related party

South African Board for Sheriffs  -    193 261 

The lease agreement was entered into based on market related rentals with an escalation clause of  10% per 
year.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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18. Risk management

Financial risk management
The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.
Liquidity risk
The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages 
liquidity risk through an on-going review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash is managed prudently by keeping sufficient cash in bank accounts.  Cash is received from Sheriffs and the 
Fidelity fund.  

Interest rate risk
The Board has interest-bearing assets and the income and operating cash flows are substantially dependent 
on the changes in the market interest rates.  The interest-bearing assets consist of short term investments with 
floating interest rate that expose the Board to cash flow interest rate risks.  The interest rate used is based on the 
Prime rate.

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents  and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash 
with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers 
on an on-going basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no 
independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial 
position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in 
accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. 

19. Events after the reporting date
The Board is not aware of any matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year which significantly 
affect the financial position of the Board or the result of operations.

20. Public Finance Management Act
The Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs has applied to the National Treasury for listing in the Public Finance Management 
Act (“PFMA”) schedules as required by S47(2) of the PFMA. The entity has therefore not been audited against 
the requirements of the PFMA, as the application is still under consideration by National Treasury. The entity has 
therefore maintained its financial year for this reporting period as the end of February in terms of the Sheriffs Act. 

21. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget

Revenue
The over recovery of revenue by R4,769,133 representing 28.31% is attributed to the following:

Sale of goods
The under recovery of 41.68% on this line item is directly related to the number of sheriff and deputy appointments 
for the year under review.  Newly appointed sheriffs only appointed their deputies in the new financial year.

Interest received on trust accounts
The over recovery of 21.53% of this line item is directly linked to the fact that the board are more actively ensuring 
that correct and competed information is submitted by the sheriffs.
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Interest receive on investments

The over recovery of 8.56% on this line item is a direct result of the new investment strategy implemented by the 
Board during the previous financial year.

21. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget(continued)
 Fair value adjustments
The over recovery of 100% on this line item is also due to the investment strategy implemented by the Board 
during the financial year.  These adjustments are also due to the increase in value of the shares in Sanlam which 
was disposed off during the current financial year.

Claims : Insurance policy
The over recovery of 100% on this line item is a claim paid by the Insurer for matters relating to the Ex Sheriff of 
Kemptonpark North, Mr Mogane.

Profit/(loss) on sale of building
The under recovery of 100% on this line item is due to the loss suffered on selling of the property, 4 Spin Street, 
Cape Town.

Operating expenses
Total expenses is over budget by R127,479 representing a 0.95% over recovery which is attributed to the following:

Administrative fees
The over recovery of 7.10% on this line item is due to the  increase in growth in the Fidelity Fund due to the 
increased amount received for interest on trust accounts.

Audit fees
The under recovery of 1.94% on audit fees is due the fact  that audit fees were charged for the first time in the 
Fidelity Fund.

Bad debts
No amount was budgeted for as this is the first year that the Fidelity Fund are fully GRAP compliant.

Bank charges
The over recovery on this line item is due to the once off fees charges on the investment with Stanlib which was 
written off in the current year as no basis exists to classify it as an asset.

Building maintenance
All building expenditure was covered by SABFS.

Claims against the Fidelity Fund
The under recovery of claims of 64.94% is directly related to claims not yet finalise and which are still under 
investigation by the Fidelity Fund.

Consulting fees

The over recovery of 0.14% on this line item is immaterial as the projects came in at the budgeted prices.
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Depreciation
The depreciation was not budgeted for. Future budgets will be prepared on an accrual basis which will ensure that 
non-cash items are included in the budget.

Insurance
The under recovery of 6.22% in this line item is due to correct measures being taken to ensure that budgets are 
prepared taking into account all factors.

Legal fees
The over recovery of 75.08% in legal fees is due to legal fees for an old matter being paid during the current  
financial year.

21. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget (continued)

Levies
The over recovery of 10.63% on this line item is due to the annual increase in July and also the relocation of office 
during the current financial year.

Utilities

This under recovery of 46.19% was due to the revised budget being set before the amount due on the new 
building was available.

22. Contingencies

Value Added Taxation(VAT)
The South African Board for Sheriffs have submitted a Tax Ruling application to South African Revenue 
Services(SARS).  This application was to clear the position  of the SABFS and the Fidelity Fund.  It was clear 
from discussions and the submission that the two bodies are one and no VAT is chargeable by the SABFS to the 
Fidelity Fund on the Administrative fees charged.  The SABFS will, however in future  have to apply only a portion  
of the VAT percentage to its expenses.  This amount is still unclear and the current provision for the VAT on the 
administrative fees charged, will be left unchanged due to the uncertainty around the outcome of the application.  
The effect of the application will have the effect that the VAT liability of the SABFS and the Fidelity Fund increase 
as only a portion of the VAT percentage will be allowed to be claimed.  These calculations could not be quantified 
accurately, hence no further provision is made for additional VAT due to SARS.  No penalties and interest were 
calculated on these unknown amounts.

Litigation
As at 28 February 2014, claims amounting to R7,084,200 (2013: R766,710) are under litigation against the Fidelity 
Fund, in respect of certain sheriffs, with a possible loss amounting to R3,197,000 (2013: R482,778) the outcome of 
which was uncertain at the date of issuing these financial statements.  Should the action be successful the Fidelity 
Fund does have insurance cover to cover litigation costs and claims for an amount of R3 million.
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Detailed Statement of Financial Performance for the period ended 
28 February 2014

Figures in Rand 2014 2013

Revenue
  

Fidelity Fund certificates 374 095 501 050
Rental income - 193 261
Interest on Sheriffs trust account 13 397 129 12 497 848

  
Operating income 13 771 224 13 192  159

  
Other income   
Interest income 5 773 105 5 277 661
Proceeds from Insurance Claims 2 491 428 -
Dividend income 20 509 161 916
Fair value adjustments 44 879 598 595

8 329 921 6 038 172
 

Total Revenue 22 101 145 19 230 331

Operating expenses
Administration fees 10 000 259 9 010 371
Audit fees 48 000 -
Bad debts 78 318 -
Bank Charges 72 259 1 706
Claims against the Fidelity Fund 525 928 3 353 627
Consulting fees 751 055 315 263
Depreciation 183 893 76 517
Finance Charges 9 -
Insurance 919 058 782 152
Legal fees 700 308 359 294
Levies 109 965 95 068
Loss on sale of assets 398  614 -
Utilities 107 626 56 586

 
13 895 292 14 050 584

 
Surplus for the year 8 205 853 5 179 747
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